

The World's Largest Open Access Agricultural & Applied Economics Digital Library

This document is discoverable and free to researchers across the globe due to the work of AgEcon Search.

Help ensure our sustainability.

Give to AgEcon Search

AgEcon Search
http://ageconsearch.umn.edu
aesearch@umn.edu

Papers downloaded from **AgEcon Search** may be used for non-commercial purposes and personal study only. No other use, including posting to another Internet site, is permitted without permission from the copyright owner (not AgEcon Search), or as allowed under the provisions of Fair Use, U.S. Copyright Act, Title 17 U.S.C.

MSU International Development Working Papers

WORKSHOP ON AGRICULTURAL TRANSFORMATION IN AFRICA: ABIDJAN, COTE D'IVOIRE, SEPTEMBER 26-29, 1995

by

Moussa Batchily Ba, John M. Staatz, Laura Farrelly, Youssouf Camara, and Georges Dimithè

MSU International Development Working Paper No. 75 1999



Department of Agricultural Economics
Department of Economics
MICHIGAN STATE UNIVERSITY

East Lansing, Michigan 48824

MSU Agricultural Economics Web Site: http://www.aec.msu.edu/agecon/MSU Food Security II Web Site: http://www.aec.msu.edu/agecon/fs2/index.htm

MSU is an affirmative-action/equal-opportunity institution.

MSU INTERNATIONAL DEVELOPMENT PAPERS

Carl Liedholm and Michael T. Weber

Editors

The MSU International Development Paper series is designed to further the comparative analysis of international development activities in Africa, Latin America, Asia, and the Near East. The papers report research findings on historical, as well as contemporary, international development problems. The series includes papers on a wide range of topics, such as alternative rural development strategies; nonfarm employment and small scale industry; housing and construction; farming and marketing systems; food and nutrition policy analysis; economics of rice production in West Africa; technological change, employment, and income distribution; computer techniques for farm and marketing surveys; farming systems and food security research.

The papers are aimed at teachers, researchers, policy makers, donor agencies, and international development practitioners. Selected papers will be translated into French, Spanish, or other languages.

Individuals and institutions in Third World countries may receive single copies of papers published since 1993 free of charge. Requests for copies and for information on available papers may be sent to:

MSU Bulletin Office 10-B Agriculture Hall Michigan State University East Lansing, Michigan 48824-1039 U.S.A.

Information concerning how to purchase MSU International Development Papers is included in the back of this publication and requests should be sent to:

MSU Bulletin Office 10-B Agriculture Hall Michigan State University East Lansing, Michigan 48824-1039 U.S.A.

WORKSHOP ON AGRICULTURAL TRANSFORMATION IN AFRICA: ABIDJAN, COTE D'IVOIRE, SEPTEMBER 26-29, 1995

by

Moussa Batchily Ba, John M. Staatz, Laura Farrelly, Youssouf Camara, and Georges Dimithè

April 1999

This paper is published by the Department of Agricultural Economics and the Department of Economics, Michigan State University (MSU). Funding for this workshop and the research underlying it was provided by the Food Security II Cooperative Agreement (AEP-5459-A-00-2041-00) between Michigan State University and the United States Agency for International Development, through the Africa Bureau's Office of Sustainable Development, Africa Bureau, AID/Washington. Support was also provided by the Sahel Regional Programs of USAID's Africa Bureau, the Institut du Sahel (INSAH), and the African Development Bank (ADB). The views expressed here are solely those of the authors and of the workshop participants and do not represent official positions of USAID, INSAH, or the ADB.

Moussa Batchily Ba is Regional Technical Coordinator at INSAH. John M. Staatz is professor of Agricultural Economics, Laura Farrelly is a former Visiting Specialist, and Youssouf Camara and Georges Dimithè are former graduate research assistants, all in the Department of Agricultural Economics at MSU.

The authors would like to thank Lual Deng, formerly with the ADB, for his role in helping organize the workshop, Michael T. Weber of MSU for helpful comments on an earlier draft of the report, and Jean-Charles Le Vallée of MSU for help in preparing the English version of the report.

8
3

© All rights reserved by Michigan State University, 1999.

Michigan State University agrees to and does hereby grant to the United States Government a royalty-free, non-exclusive and irrevocable license throughout the world to use, duplicate, disclose, or dispose of this publication in any manner and for any purposes and to permit others to do so.

Published by the Department of Agricultural Economics and the Department of Economics, Michigan State University, East Lansing, Michigan 48824-1039, U.S.A.

EXECUTIVE SUMMARY

As Africa approaches the new millennium, throughout the continent there is an emerging need to create an environment that enables members of civil society to contribute fully to sustainable economic and social development. As many countries move away from the model in which the state tried to do everything, it is clear that there needs to be much broader participation of various actors in the development process. This transition to a more participatory approach, which is taking place at different speeds depending on national, regional, and international conditions, can only occur if there is a rethinking of development approaches in all areas, but particularly with respect to agriculture.

At the initiative of USAID, the ADB, MSU, and INSAH, 40 researchers, policy makers and private-sector entrepreneurs from 19 countries, representing 20 African and international organizations, met in Abidjan for a continent-wide workshop to debate issues related to transformation of African agriculture. This meeting was hosted by the Ministry of Higher Education and Scientific Research of Côte d'Ivoire.

The Abidjan workshop built on previous discussions organized by Winrock International, the World Bank, USAID (AFR/SD/PSGE/FSP) and IFPRI concerning the key challenges (food insecurity, poverty, and environmental degradation) that need to be addressed while fostering a structural transformation of African agriculture. In 1992, Winrock International held a seminar in Baltimore, financed by USAID (AFR/ARTS), to examine these questions. A large number of North American analysts participated in this meeting. One of the principal conclusions was that there existed appropriate agricultural technologies already "on the shelf" that would allow African agriculture to grow at 4% annually, but that the adoption of these technologies was often hindered by unfavorable macroeconomic and sectoral policies. At that time, World Bank analysts had argued that a 4% agricultural growth rate was needed to stimulate fast enough overall economic growth to allow meaningful increases in real income and a reduction in poverty.

In 1993, USAID (AFR/SD/PSGE/FSP) hosted a workshop in Harare that brought together a group of African analysts to examine these same problems. The Harare group, less convinced of the widespread availability of appropriate technologies for all regions of Africa, raised the issue of the potential serious negative effects of structural adjustment programs on African agriculture. The workshop participants in Harare therefore recommended that USAID: (1) commission specific studies on the impact of agricultural policy reforms in various African countries, (2) encourage more attention be given to the development and promotion of agricultural technologies appropriate for specific agro-climatic zones, and (3) foster a re-examination of the relationships between the NARS and the CGIAR in order to assure that the technologies developed in the international research centers are adapted to the specific needs of different localities in Africa.

The recommendations of the Harare workshop served as the starting point for the workshop in Abidjan. The organizers commissioned papers on the recent experiences with agricultural transformation in Zambia, South Africa, Malawi, Ethiopia, Tanzania, Ghana, and the Sahelian countries. The Abidjan workshop also drew on the results of a workshop organized in Senegal in

December 1994 by IFPRI, which examined the difficulties encountered in the elaboration of long-term agricultural development strategies in Africa.

The Abidjan workshop attempted to go beyond these previous meetings by concentrating on identifying the specific investments and policies that African governments, firms, and international organizations and donors could undertake in the short and medium term to encourage sustainable economic and agricultural transformation. The challenge was to identify specific ways in which to foster the structural transformation of agriculture in African countries. This transformation would then stimulate broad-based economic growth while at the same time assuring improvements in food security, poverty reduction and environmental protection.

The discussion and debates in the workshop were organized around three modules:

- The first module dealt with the basic issues and challenges involved in agricultural transformation. These were introduced through three presentations, followed by discussion.
- The second module dealt with the case studies and experiences with agricultural transformation in different regions of Africa.
- The third module consisted of discussions in small working groups.

From this sharing of experiences and the discussion in the working groups there emerged a consensus that three broad areas need to be addressed in order to foster the structural transformation of African agriculture: **policies, investments, and technologies**. More specifically, the participants came to the following conclusions:

- In order to ensure a sustainable process of agricultural transformation, African countries can no longer afford to put off the necessity of critically reexamining their macroeconomic policies. The case studies show that in most of the countries, structural adjustment programs have been launched. Intended to stimulate market-driven economic growth, these programs have had mixed results in most of the countries. It remains nonetheless true that certain countries have achieved substantial progress in the implementation of these programs.
- Improvements in the system of governance are absolutely imperative. Specifically, there needs to be transparency in the design and implementation of policies, through greater involvement of farmers, who are the main actors in the system and the intended beneficiaries. The diagnoses and outlook for these countries that emerged from the case studies point to the need to make such changes as soon as possible.
- Substantial national public investments, specifically in infrastructure, that are complementary to the agricultural policy reforms constitute important measures that can contribute decisively to the structural transformation of African agriculture. These

investments should come mainly through the mobilization of domestic resources and through increased competitiveness of products on the national, regional, and international levels.

In order to foster agricultural transformation, these countries also need to undertake actions that are complementary to the infrastructure investments, notably those necessary to reach an annual minimum agricultural growth rate of 4%. They also need to accelerate regional integration (specialization by region and inter-regional trade) as a key element in their transformation strategy.

• Because there is no universal solution, it is absolutely necessary to take account of agroecological differences across zones when developing alternative strategies for sustainable structural transformation of agriculture. The participants in the Abidjan workshop identified six zones on the basis of objective criteria.. The classification proposed by the workshop has several advantages: It helps to guide the development of technologies and the definition of programs to manage natural resources. It facilitates examination of questions regarding comparative advantage and specialization. Lastly, it is useful in formulating general policies.

In summary, the participants identified three key dimensions necessary to foster agricultural transformation: **the full involvement of farmers, an approach based on regional integration, and the mobilization of domestic resources.** These are key missing links that are necessary to accelerate the process of agricultural transformation in Africa.

The structural transformation of agriculture also will require a better understanding of certain bottlenecks that reinvigorated national agricultural research systems will have to attack. With respect to this issue, the workshop participants identified key research questions to be addressed in the coming two years. These issues were put together in the form of an analytic agenda. Such research would allow the different workshop participants to work in an informal network, participate in similar research efforts, and to then meet to evaluate their common experiences.

Finally, the workshop recommends that the ADB, USAID, and other development partners be asked to support this process, which will in the end help them to justify the need for their own involvement and kindle new enthusiasm for agricultural transformation in Africa.

CONTENTS

EXECUTIVE SUMMARY	iii
LIST OF BOXES	ix
LIST OF ABBREVIATIONS	xi
1. INTRODUCTION	1
2. THE FUNDAMENTAL ISSUES OF TRANSFORMING AFRICAN AGRICULTURE .	4
3. AGRICULTURAL TRANSFORMATION: POLICIES	10
3.1. Country Experiences	
4. AGRICULTURAL TRANSFORMATION: INVESTMENTS	17
4.1. Sources of Financing4.2. Resource Mobilization4.3. Credit	21
5. AGRICULTURAL TRANSFORMATION: TECHNOLOGIES	25
5.1. Stratification of African Agriculture 5.2. A Review of Technological Gaps 5.2.1. Arid/Semi-arid Zone 5.2.2. Sub-humid Zone 5.2.3. Humid Zone 5.2.4. Medium- and High-altitude Zone 5.2.5. Mediterranean zone 5.2.6. Elevated Veldt Zone 5.3. Mechanisms for the Development and Diffusion of Appropriate Agricultural Technologies 5.4. Communication 6. ANALYTIC AGENDA AND FOLLOW-UP ACTIONS	26 26 27 27 27 27 27
6.1. Analytic Agenda	

ANNEXES	33
ANNEX I: LIST OF PARTICIPANTS	33
ANNEX II: WORKSHOP AGENDA	39
ANNEX III: COMPOSITION OF THE WORKING GROUPS AND TERMS OF	
REFERENCE	45
ANNEX IV: WORKSHOP PAPERS	49
ANNEX V. OTHER DOCUMENTS	51

LIST OF BOXES

<u>Box</u>		<u>Page</u>
Box 1:	Structural Transformation of the Agricultural Sector	1
Box 2:	Is the Asian Path Replicable?	7
Box 3:	Coordination of Reforms across Countries	11
Box 4:	Structural Transformation of the Agricultural Sector in South Africa	15
Box 5:	Agencies for Carrying Out Public Works and Employment Generation (AGETIPE)	18
Box 6:	Coordinating Agricultural Development Strategies and Programs:	
	The Case of Ghana	20
Box 7:	Difficulties of Protecting Contracts in the Zambian Agriculture Sector	22

LIST OF ABBREVIATIONS

ADB African Development Bank

AFR Africa Bureau of the U.S. Agency for International Development

ARTS Office of Analysis, Research & Technical Support of Africa Bureau, USAID

CFAF CFA Francs

CGIAR Consultative Group for International Agricultural Research

CILSS Comité Pérmanent Inter-état de Lutte Contre la Sécheresse au Sahel (Permanent

Inter-state Committee to Fight Drought in the Sahel)

COMESA Common Market of Eastern and Southern Africa

ECOWAS Economic Community of West African States

FSP Food Security Division & Productivity Unit of Africa Bureau, USAID

IFPRI International Food Policy Research Institute

IARCs International Agricultural Research Centers

IGAD Intergovernmental Authority on Development (Autorité Intergouvernementale sur

le Développement)

INSAH Institut du Sahel

MSU Michigan State University

NARS National Agricultural Research Systems

NGO Non-governmental organization

PRISAS Programme Régional de Renforcement Institutionnel en Matière de Recherche sur

la Sécurité Alimentaire au Sahel (INSAH)

PSGE Productive Sector Growth & Employment of Africa Bureau (USAID)

REDSO Regional Economic Development Support Office

SADCC Southern Agriculture Development Coordinating Committee

SAP Structural Adjustment Program

SD Office of Sustainable Development, Africa Bureau (USAID)

USAID United States Agency for International Development

WCA West and Central Africa

1. INTRODUCTION

The public and private-sector decisionmakers who participated in the Abidjan workshop reached a consensus that structural transformation of agriculture in Africa is necessary in order to serve as the catalyst for overall economic growth. (See box 1 for the definition the structural transformation of agriculture.) This growth is indispensable in order to assure food security and reduce poverty, while at the same time promoting environmental protection. This overall theme of Agricultural Transformation in Africa served as the terms of reference for the workshop held in Abidjan on September 25-29, 1995 at the Golf Hotel, under the joint initiative of the ADB, USAID, INSAH, and MSU.

Box 1: Structural Transformation of the Agricultural Sector

Every country in the world that has substantially increased per capita incomes has done so through a *structural transformation* of its economy. Structural transformation refers to a process in which greater and greater proportions of GDP and employment are contributed by sectors other than production agriculture. In other words, while remaining an important sector of the economy in absolute terms, the relative contribution of agriculture in terms of GDP, employment and foreign exchange earnings becomes smaller. This process is induced by (1) gains from specialization, regional and international trade, and scale economies, (2) increase in agricultural productivity at the farm level, and (3) the fact that the income-elasticity of demand for non-processed agricultural products is less than one and thus grows more slowly than do incomes (Engel's law).

The process of structural transformation of the economy depends in turn on transformation of the agricultural sector. *Agricultural transformation* is a process in which (1) agriculture becomes increasingly reliant on input and output markets, (2) it integrates more fully with other sectors of the economy, and (3) local producers in the food system are increasingly incorporate modern scientific knowledge into their practices. As integration between agriculture and other sectors of the economy increases, the sources of agricultural growth shift progressively from mainly extensification and increased use of labor to the use of new knowledge that originates off the farm (e.g., new technologies, management practices, and institutions).

Realizing these changes requires important investments in the development of human resources and the creation of mechanisms to mobilize public and private resources for development of the complementary infrastructure necessary to draw full advantage from these new sources of growth. These mechanisms also need to assure the transmission of the productivity gains to other sectors of the economy through production and consumption linkages.

SOURCE: John M. Staatz. 1994. *The Strategic Role of Food and Agricultural Systems in Fighting Hunger through Fostering Sustainable Economic Growth*. Department of Agricultural Economics Staff Paper No. 94-39. East Lansing: Michigan State University.

Building on a series of previous meetings on this topic (in Baltimore in 1992, Harare in 1993, Senegal in 1994, and others), this workshop brought together representatives of agricultural producers' organizations, NGOS, researchers, and decision makers from the different regions of Africa as well as from the North. (See Annex I for the list of participants.) The participants were expected to formulate recommendations that would address **what should be done** and **who should do what**, while at the same time identifying themes for future research that would be innovative and add value beyond the previous reflections on this topic.

The workshop's official opening ceremony was presided over by a representative of the Minister of Higher Education and Scientific Research of Côte d'Ivoire, in the presence of the representative of the ADB, the Director of USAID/REDSO/WCA, the Director of the Food Security unit of Africa Bureau of USAID/Washington, and the representative of the Executive Secretary of CILSS.

Speaking before the representative of the Minister, the representatives of the ADB, USAID, and CILSS each expressed the hope that the workshop would deepen the reflections on the structural transformation of agriculture in Africa by formulating innovative recommendations and approaches for all the various actors and partners involved.

Proceeding to the opening ceremony of the workshop, the representative of the Minister welcomed the participants. He praised the initiative of organizing such a meeting and said how satisfied his country was to see such a meeting being held in Abidjan. He noted that the workshop's theme was of burning importance given current challenges facing Africa. These include improving food security, reducing poverty, and assuring protection of the environment. The representative of the Minister expressed confidence that the sharing of experiences would allow the identification of new actors in the process and their respective roles and to specify the policies and investments that governments, firms and organizations will need to undertake in Africa to support the process of agricultural transformation from this point onward.

Following this opening ceremony, the workshop adopted its agenda (see Annex II). The work was organized into three modules:

- The first module dealt with the fundamental questions surrounding the structural transformation of agriculture. These questions were introduced by three presentations, followed by debate.
- The second module dealt with case studies and experiences of different geographic zones in Africa.
- The third module consisted of discussions in working groups.

At the end of the first two days, specific points that were not yet resolved were formulated into terms of reference, which were given to three working groups. (The terms of reference and the composition of the groups are given in Annex III.) The following groups were formed:

Group 1 dealt with technological aspects, in particular, determining criteria for classifying agroecological zones, the use of appropriate technologies (by zone), and the geographical distribution of production.

Group 2 was interested in investment, putting particular emphasis on problems of financing and access to credit.

Group 3 dealt with institutional aspects and policies (notably macroeconomic and sectoral policies), land tenure, and regional integration and cooperation.

In addition to these questions, all the groups were asked to address the following cross-cutting questions:

- the impact of structural adjustment programs (SAPs) and the degree of implementation of the reforms;
- the actors involved (who should do what--i.e., roles, organization, and arrangements for participation and coordination);
- communication (how to convey the recommendations and the findings of research efficiently); and
- a final plenary session was devoted to approving the conclusions of the workshop.
 Material in the following chapters help facilitate an understanding of the workshop's main results.

2. THE FUNDAMENTAL ISSUES OF TRANSFORMING AFRICAN AGRICULTURE

The fundamental issues concerning the structural transformation of African agriculture were introduced by three papers, which served as a basis for the subsequent discussion.

The first presentation was that of Ousmane BADIANE of IFPRI. This organization had published a study entitled "A 2020 Vision for Agriculture and the Environment in Sub Saharan Africa.." This publication grew out of a discussion of African experts who met in Dakar in December 1994. It clearly identified the challenges facing African agriculture while proposing the structural transformation of African agriculture as a strategic objective and highlighting the key choices that have to be made. With regard to the current challenges (food insecurity, poverty, environmental degradation), IFPRI identified five objectives:

- Significantly reduce (by 50%) the absolute number of the poor.
- Eliminate chronic malnutrition among children.
- Increase the agricultural growth rate to at least 4% per year, in order to launch a process of overall economic growth that is necessary to significantly increase per capita incomes.
- Halt environmental degradation.
- Reduce the rate of population growth even if the impact of such a reduction will be felt only after many years.

Attaining these objectives will require that structural and policy questions be addressed, each of which has both internal and external dimensions. The 2020 vision proposes to address these critical choices through the following strategic actions:

- Improve the quality of governance systems, including increased transparency in the adoption of policies.
- Undertake important national public investments in agriculture, largely through mobilization of domestic resources
- Involve the poor and malnourished in the process of elaborating programs and not simply as the beneficiaries of programs (such as targeted subsidies).
- Increase the competitiveness of local products at the national, regional and international levels.

According to this study, a critical re-examination of macro-economic policies is imperative in order to see their impact on these strategic actions, and this re-examination needs to be undertaken without delay. A number of diagnostic studies and projections indicate that there

really are no alternatives to adopting these actions, particularly if Africa is to attain a minimum annual agricultural growth rate of 4%.

The second presentation was that of Lual DENG and his colleagues from the ADB. It was entitled "Agricultural Transformation in Africa: The Missing Links." This paper identified two critical missing links in the strategies used up to now to try to promote structural transformation of African agriculture. The authors stressed that:

- most of the efforts undertaken up to now to promote agricultural transformation in Africa have emphasized the role of improved technologies and policy reforms.
- these approaches have not paid enough attention to:
 - the necessity to empower African farmers and involve them in the process of development and diffusion of new policies;
 - the critical role of regional integration (specialization by regions and inter-regional trade) as a key element in a transformation strategy. Traders represent a vital link between farmers in the process of regional integration, and thus can play a central role in allowing African countries to move from their current strategies of food self-sufficiency towards food security strategies based on regional trade.

The authors argue that empowering the farmer is a fundamental necessity. This implies that farmers need to be fully involved in the strategic choices and decisions concerning agriculture, such as those concerning technologies and investments, and in sharing in the benefits of the subsequent growth.

The need for greater economic integration is also undeniable. Deng and his co-authors question, however, how far African countries have gone in actually trying to achieve this oft-cited goal. They argue that economic integration needs to be accelerated in order to create an internal market in Africa that would justify and reward the efforts that will be necessary to increase productivity and competitiveness.

The third presentation was that of Dunstan SPENCER, dealing with "Past Trends and Future Prospects for Agricultural Development in Sub-Saharan Africa." He examined alternative strategies for sustainable agricultural transformation in Africa, distinguishing between agroecological zones. Apart from South Africa and Nigeria, which have their own particular characteristics, Spencer proposes to divide sub-Saharan Africa into 4 distinct zones: Center-West, North, East, and South. Spencer's central arguments are that it is necessary to:

• develop specific strategies for each agro-climatic zone, as there is no single approach that will guarantee success in all zones of Africa;

- increase investments in infrastructure even though, according to Spencer, the Asian model of a Green Revolution is not replicable in Africa. This increased investment will require substantial mobilization of domestic and international resources. To this end, farmers need political empowerment to assure that an adequate proportion of national resources is invested in the agricultural sector;
- opt for a strategy that includes three alternative scenarios:
 - Invest in the high-potential regions of East and Southern Africa in order to create an Asian-style Green Revolution based on maize and wheat. To realize this objective, an annual investment of approximately US \$5 billion would be necessary. Spencer stresses that even with this level of investment, the resulting production would not be sufficient to meet completely Africa's projected food deficit in the year 2020. Besides, according to the author, Africa doesn't have access to the resources necessary to the apply the Asian model (see Box 2).
 - Follow, the same approach as outlined above, but applied also to the Sahel. In order to realize this objective, it would be necessary to increase investment in irrigation in the Sahel by approximately U.S. \$600 million per year. As above, this investment would not be sufficient to meet the food deficit in the year 2020, and Africa lacks the resources to apply this model.
 - Follow broad-based strategy involving an increased investment of at least US \$1 billion in national agricultural research and extension systems. This investment would permit them to continue their internal reforms, become more productive, and develop technologies that are endogenous and adapted to local resources, while still using certain external inputs such as chemical fertilizer.

Spencer estimates that this broad-based strategy should permit Africa to meet its food deficit by the year 2020. It remains to be seen what the response of the NARS would be to such a program and whether this level of investment would lead to an annual agricultural growth rate of 4%.

Box 2: Is the Asian Path Replicable?

Spencer's paper raises the issue that in order for Sub-Saharan Africa (SSA) to follow the Asian path, using the same types of intensive Green-Revolution technologies, there needs to exist a set of enabling conditions, such as those that existed at the onset of the Green Revolution in Asia, which could help to fuel a similar revolution in Africa. A fundamental question raised is whether or not these conditions exist, and if not, what is the likelihood that SSA could create a set of enabling conditions similar to that of Asia? Spencer estimates that in order to bring the rural road network/population density in the high potential South and East zones by the year 2010 to a level equivalent to that of India in the early 1950s, 766,000 km of rural roads would need to be built. This endeavor would require a total investment of \$38,290, million or approximately \$5,380 million annually. In those same zones, use of fertilizer would need to increase from 20kg/ha today to 70kg/ha by the year 2010. In order to increase the area under irrigation in the North region to a level equivalent to India's in the 1950s, it would require an increase of roughly 150% and the total investment needed would be \$4270 million (\$600 million annually). In other words, an incremental annual capital investment equivalent to about 10% of SSAs agricultural GDP would be necessary in the high potential zones of SSA in order to create the enabling conditions that would facilitate the use of Green Revolution technologies.

Is it feasible for Sub-Saharan Africa to achieve a similar level of investment in infrastructure and increase in the use of purchased inputs by the year 2010 as that of Asia in the 1950s? If so, will it produce the desired result, that is, the closing of the food gap in SSA?

Spencer argues that such investment is not feasible on macro grounds. Even if it were, it would still leave large food gaps by the year 2010. Spencer therefore argues that a much more productive path would be to invest heavily in national agricultural research systems (NARS), with the aim of producing locally adapted technologies that are less dependent on imported inputs and high levels of infrastructure.

SOURCE: Dunstan Spencer. Past Trends and Future Prospects for Agricultural Development in Africa.

Out the discussions and debate that followed these presentations, the participants reached a general consensus about the necessity to:

- develop strategies to transform the agricultural sector in African countries over the next 25 years;
- identify the key missing links in the structural transformation process of African agriculture in order to go beyond the search for single solutions for all of Africa;
- consider more specific approaches for each of the different zones of Africa.

At the end of these discussions, there remained key unanswered questions about the strategies needed to transform African agriculture. These questions were further discussed by the working groups without being entirely resolved. They deserve further reflection, which ought to be carried out in each country as an integral part of the design of its overall development strategy. These questions include:

- What criteria should be used to stratify countries in order to carry out detailed crosscountry analysis of agricultural transformation (agro-ecological zone, sociopolitical context, etc.)?
- What roles should different actors play (the state, NGOs, private sector, civil society) in the structural transformation process of agriculture? A balance needs to be struck between a pure laissez-faire approach and the *dirigiste* approach of the omnipresent state, while determining new roles for collective action and acknowledging the wide variety of forms that it can take
- What are the potential conflicts among different objectives related to the agricultural transformation (for example, between protection of the environment and growth, or between different patterns of growth)?
- How to establish priorities among the different objectives:
 - o between sectors;
 - within the agricultural sector.
- What structure of land tenure and size of farm should be promoted? How can new types of agricultural units be promoted that will be dynamic elements within the system?
- What is really meant by the concept of "broad-based development"?
- What sort of strategic planning should be adopted? Going beyond a simple strategy, how should the problem of the sequencing of actions be addressed in order to promote transformation? In other words, what should be done and in what order?
- How will the spatial distribution of the population change over the next 25 years (urban/rural, and among agro-ecological zones) and how will this new distribution affect the structural transformation of agriculture?
- What alternatives exist for developing and promoting new technologies? What role should be played by the private sector and public investment?

• How can information about the factors impeding structural transformation of agriculture be communicated in a more convincing manner to various decision makers (government officials, businessmen, etc.)?

Out of the discussions in the working groups, emerged three dominant themes: **policies**, **investments**, **and technologies**. These three themes are interdependent in that the adoption of good agricultural policies reflects in part the quality of investment priorities that have been chosen, but it also depends on the quality of available technologies.

However, the workshop participants concluded that in order to capture the synergies between policies, investments, and technologies, inter-sectoral coordination is necessary in order to avoid the dispersion of efforts currently seen in many countries, where policies are designed and implemented, but with few positive results. It's also necessary to promote coordination of investments between different ministries (e.g., transport and agriculture) and between government and the private sector (Dapaah 1995 and Gebre et al. 1995). This coordination is also necessary in the area of research in order for research to contribute significantly to agricultural transformation. Research coordination is needed both within geographical zones, where the basic problems are common, and between the national and international research systems.

3. AGRICULTURAL TRANSFORMATION: POLICIES

The workshop participants argued that "neolithic" agriculture, which relies entirely on home produced inputs and is still practiced in Africa, needs to be rapidly bypassed if the continent is to achieve food security. In order to achieve this goal, the development of long-term policies and strategies is absolutely necessary.

3.1. Country Experiences

To delve into the issues of policies and strategies, the workshop examined the experiences of the following regions and countries:

- Southern Africa: Zambia, Malawi, and South Africa
- East Africa: Ethiopia and Tanzania
- West Africa: Ghana and the Sahelian countries

These case studies show that in most of the countries, macro-economic and sectoral reform programs have been implemented. Nonetheless, the performance of these adjustment measures remains in question.

The reform programs have been undertaken in the context of structural adjustment programs (SAPs). These adjustments have involved:

- macro-economic stabilization;
- trade liberalization;
- exchange-rate reforms;
- institutional reforms (including marketing reforms, privatization, regulatory and judicial reforms, and financial reforms); and
- reforms in investment codes.

Designed to favor market-driven growth, these adjustments have had mixed results. Even though certain countries such as Ghana and Zambia have realized some progress in implementing adjustment programs, in general, the studies show that progress has been quite variable and not very satisfactory in most African countries with respect to:

- exchange rate, monetary and fiscal reforms
- institutional reforms, and
- financial reforms.

The degree of progress observed depends on the degree of political will, the speed of implementation, and the sequencing of specific actions in the different countries. While these reforms may have established a solid base for future progress, their impact in terms of accelerating agricultural transformation has been disappointing, especially given the key role that agricultural transformation must play in Africa. Given this finding, what should be done?

According to the workshop participants, the weak performance of the reforms vis a vis agricultural transformation is due to the following factors:

- structural and institutional rigidities (prices, land tenure, infrastructure);
- lack of political will (e.g., the case of Zambia until the mid 1990s);
- instability due to highly variable weather;
- attitudes of various actors towards the agricultural reforms, which leads to behaviors based on their distrust of the changes;
- insufficient policy response to exogenous factors (such as questions of trade, natural risks, emergence of new trading blocs outside of Africa, the development of synthetic substitutes for African agricultural exports, and the debt burden);
- inadequate long-run supply response for non-tradeable products;
- weak capacity to design and implement policy reforms; and
- the lack of coordination among reforms across countries (see Box 3).

Box 3: Coordination of Reforms across Countries

One of the objectives of the structural adjustment programs adopted by many African countries is to align the prices of their domestic resources with opportunity costs on the international market. These programs include reductions in taxes and subsidies aimed at inducing farmers, traders and other entrepreneurs to allocate their investments in those sectors of the economy in which the country in which the country has a comparative advantage. However, problems can arise when these same reforms are undertaken in neighboring countries at different rates. This is the case for many sub-Saharan African countries, where unofficial trade flows through porous borders can easily influence the performance of national reforms. The case of reforms undertaken in Zambia illustrate this problem well.

At the beginning of the 1990s, the Zambian government abolished its agricultural subsidies at a more rapid rate than did its neighboring countries, in particular Zimbabwe and South Africa. Notwithstanding the abolishing of the subsidies, Zambian officials had hoped that the country would have a logistical advantage in exporting maize to several African countries, particularly Congo-Kinshasa, Malawi, Rwanda, Burundi, part of Tanzania, Angola, and Mozambique. However, the rapid liberalization of prices created disparities that hurt the performance of the new policies. These negative effects were accentuated by the porousness of the borders. Scott shows, for example, that one of the perverse effects of this policy was the increase in illegal, informal trade of rice, flour, and several other agricultural products from Zimbabwe. Similarly, the border between Zambia and Congo-Kinshasa, along the Luapula River, is the main route for illegal exports of maize flour. Maize grain is illegally exported to Malawi through the region of Lundazi. Another example of the perverse effects of the policy differences between neighboring countries is the increase in illegal exports of maize flour towards Namibia along the Zambezi River in response to increases in the maize prices (compared to the regional average) announced by the Namibian government in order to promote national production.

SOURCE: Guy Scott. Agricultural Transformation in Zambia: Past Experience and Future Prospects.

In this context, the workshop recommends that governments adopt programs, complementary to the SAPs, that translate the governments' desire to move out of the current stagnation into concrete actions, such as encouraging growth of investment in infrastructure and better land use. Similarly, it is important that policies and programs encourage an appropriate mix of investments and create incentives to eliminate the harmful effects of non-price rigidities.

In addition, the participants recommend that, with regard to specific programs, it is important to:

• Promote a favorable policy environment. This includes, in particular, adopting key aspects of good governance, of which transparency, participation, and the delegation of responsibilities are elements that reinforce the economic reforms currently underway. (For example, beginning in the mid 1990s Mali began efforts to create transparent, local units

of government and to decentralize research and extension.) Particular attention needs to be paid to countries just emerging from conflict.

- Adopt positive attitudes and approaches with respect to the reforms: maintain high-level government involvement to assure systematically that there is consistency and continuity in the implementation of the reforms. An example of policy inconsistency was cited for Mali, where despite the devaluation, price policy is handicapped by inconsistency across policies within the cotton subsector. Producer prices continue to be fixed, while there is a liberalized market for local consumption of cotton, but not for exports.
- Reconsider current land tenure arrangements. Grosso modo, in Africa, one sees the following patterns: (a) bimodal distribution of land, (b) a lack of access to land for some rural residents, (c) poorly defined property rights (communal lands), and (d) land fragmentation. To the extent that these different arrangements constitute constraints to agricultural transformation, measures need to be taken to adopt transparent and precise rules governing access, ownership, and use of land.
- Limit the effects of exogenous factors. The results from economic policy reforms in Africa continue to be strongly affected by exogenous factors such as drought and natural disasters, shifts in the terms of trade, the existence of new trading blocks outside of Africa, and the development of new synthetic substitutes for African agricultural exports.
- Reduce the effects of unfavorable external factors (such as declining terms of trade), the workshop recommends:
 - the easing of policy measures which implicitly or explicitly tax agriculture exorbitantly;
 - o increasing the value-added to products before export, for example through increasing the quality of exported products;
 - the undertaking of collective actions to gain access to new markets within the new trading blocks.

In addition, in order to deal with the unfavorable consequences of drought, the workshop recommends:

- the creation and strengthening of early warning systems, the pre-planning of drought and famine mitigation activities, and the development and strengthening of market information systems;
- the promotion of intra-African trade by abolishing artificial trade barriers between local markets and across borders.

- Work to overcome the limited availability of resources. Relax resource constraints by:
 - o innovative reciprocal debt swaps that favor agriculture (reciprocal debt agreements for agriculture and for infrastructure);
 - efforts to attract private, especially domestic, investment as part of a domestic resource mobilization strategy.

More broadly, the workshop recommends:

- developing analytic capacity to plan and carry out improved policies. A way to help guarantee the success of the policy reforms lies in reinforcing local analytic capacity.
- consolidating regional economic integration. African countries recognize the importance
 of regional economic integration. They have created several regional and sub-regional
 groupings, such as ECOWAS, SADCC, COMESA and IGAD. Unfortunately, for diverse
 reasons, these groupings have experienced real difficulties. They still have to prove their
 efficiency.

With regard to these difficulties, the participants noted that African food and economic systems are strongly tied to the North, to the detriment of intra-African trade. The consequence is an incapacity to take advantage of intra-African comparative advantage and specialization with regard to agricultural production and trade. The absence of regional infrastructure to facilitate intra-regional trade, the existence of tariff and non-tariff barriers, and the lack of competitiveness of products produced at the regional level also help explain these difficulties. Numerous examples were cited during the workshop to illustrate this situation, such as the failure of Senegal to exploit the potential export market for peanut oil in Nigeria.

3.2. Conclusions

In summary the participants draw the following conclusions from their review of the case studies:

- In most African countries reforms have been undertaken to foster agricultural transformation. Nonetheless, these reforms remain stuck in a short-term vision and face problems of investment, financing and access to land (land tenure issues). The case of South Africa was cited as an example (see Box 4).
- There is very weak coordination among actions taken at several different levels.
- The arrangements to assure participation and control by the various actors need to perform better and be more transparent.
- The lack of dynamism in the process of regional integration constitutes a serious handicap to the process of transformation.

Finally, the workshop concluded that its necessary to recognize that the structural adjustment programs can produce either positive or negative social, environmental and production effects.

Box 4: Structural Transformation of the Agricultural Sector in South Africa

The agricultural sector of the South African economy has been marked by a long period of massive direct state interventions in its organization and management. These interventions were defined through several laws (e.g., the Agricultural Acts of 1913, 1936, 1939, and 1970). This phase of interventionist policies reached its high point at the end of the 1970s through laws and regulations that in effect guaranteed the white minority control over and access to natural resources (more specifically, the best land), capital and labor, as well as to agricultural product markets. These measures to segregate the rights to access and ownership between whites and blacks in effect restricted the majority of black farmers to the role of hired laborers. The policies implemented in South Africa since 1913 also encouraged agricultural production systems that had negative environmental effects and research and extension systems that were designed to serve large farms managed by whites. Two consequences of the cumulative effects of all these measures were: (1) an increasing gap between the cost of production and the price paid to small farmers, which translated into growing indebtedness of small farmers; and (2) food insecurity among many consumers.

In order to reverse this trend, South Africa has undertaken, at its own initiative, a restructuring program since the beginning of the 1980s. It is thus one of the rare African countries to initiate a structural adjustment program for its economy without the sponsorship of the World Bank and the International Monetary Fund. In particular, the governments that preceded the National Unity Government [in place in 1995] initiated a vast program of privatization during the end of the 1980s. Cyclical factors, the political transition, and uncertainty regarding the political stability of the country complicated the implementation of the reforms. In particular, these reforms ran into resistance from non-parliamentary political groups and many unions, with the result that the reforms were suspended and then reoriented towards marketing reforms and deregulation. Nonetheless, the debate over privatization has re-emerged on the political-economic scene in South Africa.

It should be noted, however, that the changes in agricultural policies were themselves induced by the liberalization of the financial sector and its positive effects on interest rates, on agricultural credit, and on input costs. The positive effects of the restructuring and readjustment programs undertaken since the 1980s have resulted in, among other things, an improvement in the financial situation of small farmers and a dramatic change in South African agriculture at the beginning of the 1990s.

Nonetheless, because the systems of research and extension were designed to serve large farms managed by whites, the need to reorganize these systems to support small farmers has become apparent. This need has raised concerns among South African officials about whether these structures have the capacity to reform themselves and whether these small farms have the capacity to assure the country's food self-sufficiency. These concerns are reinforced by the fact that such a reorientation of agriculture implies the need to deal with the difficult problem of changing the land tenure system the country inherited from the Apartheid era.

SOURCE: C.J. van Royen, J.F. Kirsten, J. Van Zyl and N. Vink. Structural Adjustment, Policy Reform and Agricultural Performance in South Africa.

4. AGRICULTURAL TRANSFORMATION: INVESTMENTS

A theme broadly shared by the workshop participants is the need for massive investments in the African agriculture sector, notably in areas such as production, processing, and marketing, including related sectors such as transportation. For these investments to be effective, the workshop has identified certain principles to help guide them:

- The investments must increase the agriculture sector's competitiveness.
- Farmers must have effective voice in and be fully associated with the decision-making process. Particularly, they must have freedom of choice regarding the types of investments with which they are associated, and the investments must increase the profitability at the farm level.
- The investments must be sustainable.
- A solid partnership needs to be created between farmers, investors (including the producers themselves) and policy-makers by developing the institutional mechanisms that will strengthen the ability to identify, plan, execute, monitor and evaluate the various investment programs. This also implies a partnership between these members in their choice of investment sources and in innovative ways to mobilize these investments.

The needs must be debated to focus on the right choices. In this regard, the participants stressed that a "food systems" perspective needs to guide discussions of agricultural transformation in that the agricultural transformation involves changing a series of physical transformations in the food system that are inter-linked by transactions (cf. Boughton et al.). Also a decision-tree approach to priority setting needs to be established.

4.1. Sources of Financing

In discussing relevant sources for financing the investments in agriculture, the workshop stressed the importance of considering domestic as well as foreign sources. Concerning domestic sources, the workshop noted that private funding may come from:

- Agricultural sources (labor, equipment, liquid assets, human resources through education),
- The commercial sector,
- Communal resources (direct or used as collateral),
- From NGOs.

The participants noted, nonetheless, the importance of also reflecting on what role farmers' selffinancing of agricultural investments can play relative to commercial financing, by asking the following questions:

- How can self-financing be increased (importance of retained earnings and the mechanisms to channel them into the agriculture sector)?
- What are the appropriate policies that can help mobilize investments from the private sector by making available information about such opportunities?
- What sorts of policies could induce the private sector, including the producers themselves, to invest in areas traditionally financed by the private sector (e.g., by adapting the AGETIPE approach, used in the urban centers of most Sahelian countries, for rural investments. See Box 5.)

Box 5: Agencies for Carrying Out Public Works and Employment Generation (AGETIPE)

Traditionally, one of the challenges in carrying out public works is to assure good performance by the executing agency, typically a government organization. The World Bank has pioneered an approach, the AGETIPE (Agences d'Exécution de Travaux d'Intérêt Public pour l'Emploi), which promotes efficient public works with strong job creation. The basic notion is one of subcontracting: rather than the state itself undertaking a major public work (such as road construction), it enters into a performance-based contract with a private agency, which in turn acts as a general contractor. The general contractor then divides up the work, often contracting with many small, labor-intensive firms or cooperatives, which would be unable to undertake the entire job themselves. The contractor is paid based on achievement of specific implementation benchmarks that are spelled out in the contract. Although primarily used to date for road construction in urban areas, Mali is exploring the possibility of developing rural AGETIPEs for strengthening rural infrastructure while creating urgently needed employment. The following extract from a proposal for rural AGETIPEs outlines their potential in Mali.

"The implementation of such a reform must be built upon an innovative institutional environment, conceived in a way that brings services and rural clients closer together, thereby limiting the defects of the current, overly bureaucratic system, which is characterized by approaches that are fragmentary, poorly targeted, and frequently uncoordinated. The performances of the AGETIPE offers an appropriate model in this case. Therefore, we recommend that an agricultural AGETIPE model be set in place that is adapted to the needs of the rural sector. Such an independent and multi-functional organization could contribute to creating better conditions for:

• exploiting the potential of initiatives from entrepreneurs of various agricultural sub-sectors,

- ensuring the professionalism of the private sector and increasing the profitability and competitiveness of the activities,
- improving the management of contracts with the public sector and the international donors,
- mobilizing the necessary specialized technical backing,
- implementing projects for infrastructure development and for improving and managing natural resources.

At the level of the overall economy, giving priority to the establishment of an agricultural AGETIPE is further justified by the favorable impacts it would have on employment (especially of recent graduates [many of whom are unemployed in Mali]), by its multiplier effects through inter-sectoral links, and by its effects on income generation and distribution. In Mali, agriculture, the most important sector for the nation's economy, offers many great opportunities, especially with the devaluation of the CFA franc. Nonetheless, agriculture and the rural sector suffer from a shortage of capital, the mobilization of which requires reforms in the financial system through regulatory measures and appropriate incentives to promote and support the development of private rural banking institutions."

SOURCE: Extract of a memorandum by Josué Dioné addressed to: the Conseil Économique, Social et Culturel de la République du Mali, Mémorandum du Centre d'Etude et de Recherche sur la Démocratie et le Développement Economique et Social (CEDRES, Bamako, Mali, June 1995).

Concerning the public sector, the workshop participants recommended the following principles to allow the sector to contribute more effectively:

- Increasing budget allocations to the agricultural sector and other related sectors such as transportation;
- Reducing budget allocations to sectors where the participants considered the expenses to be a waste, an example being the spending on arms;
- Promoting debt swaps involving agriculture, according to modalities that yet need to be defined;
- Improving coordination between government ministries in order to capture the maximum benefit from government expenditures, as has been done in Ghana (see Box 6);
- Promoting and integrating domestic capital markets and involving them more in agriculture.

As for foreign sources, their continued mobilization will require changes in policies to make agricultural investment more attractive (e.g., through developing a rural investment code). Private and bilateral sources may be included in this category. Changes in policies and a revision of the mandates of the donor agencies appear to now allow bilateral aid to directly support the private sector. Among other foreign sources are diverse multilateral sources. The workshop participants believe it is important to assure greater coordination in order to better channel these various funds coming from multiple sources and to promote broad-based development.

Box 6: Coordinating Agricultural Development Strategies and Programs: The Case of Ghana

Agriculture is the key sector of the Ghanian economy. It employs over 70% of the active population, contributes approximately 40% of the GDP, and 50% of export revenues. It also contributes significantly to the financing of other sectors of the economy. It is made up of many sub-sectors, such as non-cocoa crops (63% of agricultural GDP), cacoa (14%), forestry (11%), fishing (7%), and livestock raising (5%). The cocoa sub-sector is under the direct authority of the Presidency of the Republic. In contrast, livestock production, fishing and other agricultural production fall under the mandate of the Ministry of Food and Agriculture.

Despite the relative importance of agriculture in Ghana's economy, its performance is mediocre. Between 1970 and 1984, for example, the annual growth rate of agricultural production (-1.2%) was lower than that of the population (2.6%). Faced with this situation, the Ghanian authorities looked for ways to ensure a rapid transformation of the agricultural sector. Ghana was thus, in 1983, the first African country to initiate a structural adjustment program (Ghana Economic Recovery Program, or ERP). In the view of the Ghanian authorities and the donor agencies, despite the substantial progress made in the agricultural sector under the ERP, agriculture continued to operate below its potential.

The weak performance of the sector is linked to problems experienced with the acquisition and distribution of inputs, and the production, processing, preservation, marketing and consumption of agricultural products. Some of these problems were due to lack of information or poor organization. Other problems required changes in behavior, the initiation of new programs, or a revision of existing programs. Particularly during the first phase of the ERP, it was noted that the links between the Ministry of Food and Agriculture (MOFA) with other organizations involved in agriculture were practically non-existent. Moreover, the links between the various sub-sectors were weak, each operating independently and not inter-dependently. Many unprecedented initiatives, seen nowhere else in Africa, were established to ensure linkages and coordination between the different strategies and the programs affecting the agriculture sector.

Thus, MOFA took the initiative of organizing a national debate involving producers, processors, donor agencies, governmental authorities, and other interested parties. This debate led to the publication in 1986 on an action plan and strategies for the agricultural sector (Ghana's Agricultural Policy: Action Plans and Strategies, 1986-1988). Similarly, a national committee for agricultural policy coordination was formed. This committee included representatives of the ministries of Commerce, Industry, Finance, Roads, Transportation and Communication, the Central Bank of Ghana, local governments, government-sponsored development corporations, and the National Commission for Planning. Presided by the Ministry of

Finance, seconded by Ministry of Commerce and Industry, this committee supported MOFA and ensured the coordination between MOFA and the other ministries and organizations involved, directly or indirectly, in agriculture.

These initiatives eloquently illustrate the importance that the Ghanian government accords to agriculture and its recognition that: (1) this sector is not limited to farm-level production, (2) its performance cannot be evaluated independently of the other sectors of the economy, (3) a multi-disciplinary approach is necessary to identify the strategies and initiatives needed to induce agricultural transformation.

SOURCE: S.K. Dapaah. Empirical Analysis of the Likely Future Evolution of Agriculture in Ghana

and How It Will Affect Prospects for Longer Term Growth of Agriculture, the Food

System and Broader Economy.

4.2. Resource Mobilization

Identifying sources for funding is nothing new. The challenge is in the mobilization and the channeling of these funds in an adequate and creative manner. To support this objective, the workshop identified two overarching conditions:

- The creation of a viable political environment. Apart from the usual macro-economic conditions, the following are also needed:
 - Security of investment;
 - The right to expatriate profits;
 - An adequate fiscal system;
 - A reduction of political uncertainty;
 - The rule of law and the promotion and protection of contracts (see Box 7);
 - The creation of one-stop administrative centers in order to reduce cumbersome bureaucratic procedures and harassment;
 - The diffusion of information needed by intended beneficiaries (e.g., on the available tools for financing);
 - The demonstration of the country's absorptive capacity;
 - Banking reforms to facilitate transfers within a given country and between African countries.

- A degree of flexibility in policy conditionalities. Conditionalities need to be realistic, capable of being implemented, and based on:
 - The restructuring of portfolios (shifting funds towards productive sectors);
 - The opening-up of the private sector;
 - Increased dynamism on the part of farmers and agri-food companies in searching for financing, which can be fostered through an initial financial assistance aimed at strengthening their capacities. These pre-investments can be done by government or other sources.

Box 7: Difficulties of Protecting Contracts in the Zambian Agriculture Sector

Maize is the main crop of large commercial farms as well as of small subsistence farms in Zambia. Conditions in this subsector play an important role in defining the political relations between the rural and urban sectors, and define a certain "social contract" between citizens and government leaders. This subsector is going through a rapid transition between a past marked by weak performance and an uncertain future.

Under state control for many years, the maize sub-sector started its liberalization in 1992 following accords signed in 1991 between the Zambian government and donor agencies. These accords called for the withdrawal of political influence from the sub-sector. Reforms were implemented in 1992, particularly the removal of subsidies in processing, input marketing, and transportation. These measures helped develop new areas of private-sector activity, such as import trade, input marketing, and the proliferation of small mills. On the other hand, many other sectors remain subsidized. Progress towards liberalization in these areas continues to be hindered by weather and political pressures, which have limited the government's capacity to ensure that players honored contracts.

In 1991-1992, for example, Zambia went through one of its driest seasons on record. The government had to adopt exceptional measures to reduce widespread hunger. Prices of local and imported maize were fixed by the government, both in grain and processed forms. However, maize marketing was more or less liberalized one year later (in 1994). Although the *distribution* of credit to small farmers was to be assured by the private sector, the *financing* of this credit (for the purchases of maize and inputs) came from the government, through two programs that suffered from weak credit recovery rates. These low recovery rates are explained by the highly politicized nature of maize production in rural areas, which made it practically impossible for any credit institutions other than government to operate profitably in these areas. What happened is that from one year to the next, members of parliament and other politicians continuously made credit new available to those who failed to repay their previous loans.

Zambia's problems in financing and marketing maize expanded to other sub-sectors. These problems made life difficult for those who promoted small farming. For example, a Zimbabwean tobacco company (*Burley Tobacco Industry*), operating with local Zambian businessmen, for many years tried to promote

tobacco production in Zambia by offering inputs and technical expertise to contracted farmers, in exchange for exclusive purchase rights to the crop. But often the crops was fraudulently sold to others in violation of the contract between the farmers and the *Burley Tobacco Industry*. These violations were difficult to eliminate and were most often organized by the employees of *Burley Tobacco Industry* itself. The fraudulent sales translated to little or no profits for the company. This situation was aggravated by the local and national politics at stake. It was not uncommon to see members of parliament, right before elections, push farmers to revolt against the company.

SOURCE: Guy Scott. Agricultural Transformation in Zambia: Past Experience and Future

Prospects.

4.3. Credit

The workshop put particular emphasis on loans directed towards small farmers, as those for large farmers seem less problematic. For small farmers, it is important to distinguish between credit for food crops and for cash crops.

The participants identified the following as key questions concerning credit:

- The aggregate availability of credit (e.g., in the CFA zone, where the banks have large amounts of un-lent funds);
- Limited access to credit for small farmers, due to a lack of collateral and proven solidarity. Loans are given to small farmers through groups to reduce risks and transaction costs;
- The weak repayments of contracted credit by farmers. This is partially explained by a lack of monitoring by the lending agencies. Loan repayment by small farmers depends on the social pressures within the group, the financial viability of the enterprise, agricultural policies and the monitoring of policy implementation (case of Zambia–see Box 7);
- The channeling of credit to productive uses is influenced in part by:
 - The timing and calendar of the loans;
 - The type of loan (short term/medium term);
 - The size of the loan.

Specifically, for food production, an important question arises concerning how to make credit available and accessible given the risks due to lack of markets and uncertainty concerning weather and prices? The workshop noted that credit was often seen as a form of insurance, which means that (a) the interest rate is often high because it includes an "insurance premium", and (b)

repayment rates are sometimes low. To promote credit availability in this situation, the participants suggested a certain number of options:

- Create a reliable domestic output market, using measures adapted to local conditions;
- Offer storage facilities and furnish credit for storage to respond to immediate liquidity demands;
- Create crop insurance programs supported by government.

Generally, the participants recommended that governments take the responsibility to reduce the risks facing farmers, if food crops are seen as having national strategic importance. In these cases, explanations for these decisions must be clearly spelled out. If measures are taken to protect national agricultural production, the justification must include recognition of the inflation resulting from high food prices, as well as possible foreign exchange savings resulting from the low levels of food imports caused by such prices.

5. AGRICULTURAL TRANSFORMATION: TECHNOLOGIES

The workshop participants felt that questions regarding technologies are of great importance, as they can directly help in achieving the necessary conditions for agricultural transformation. These questions were addressed from three angles:

- The stratification of the various African economies by agro-ecological zones and by regional sub-zones;
- The review of agricultural technology gaps for each of the identified zones;
- The mechanisms for developing and diffusing appropriate agricultural technologies.

5.1. Stratification of African Agriculture

The workshop developed the following criteria to help classify the agro-ecological zones:

- The length of the growing season;
- Altitude:
- Temperature.

Using these criteria, the workshop proposed the following 6 zones:

- Arid/semi-arid zone;
- Savanna/sub-humid zone;
- Humid zone;
- Medium- and high-altitude zone;
- Mediterranean zone;
- Elevated veldt zone (temperate).

For the participants, this classification has many advantages. It helps guide technology development and define resource-management programs. It also allows examination of comparative advantage and specialization, as well as the formulation of policies. In using this stratification to develop policy, other factors must be taken into account: political, institutional, administrative and economic systems, the existence of regional economic organizations, and factors related to demography and infrastructure.

5.2. A Review of Technological Gaps

The workshop participants identified certain gaps which constrain structural transformation of African agriculture. These gaps are strongly felt in all of the zones in terms of non-traditional exports and food goods. Nonetheless, the gaps described below are general. Follow-up work is needed to refine and further detail their characteristics. This work could be done starting with the knowledge base of the NARS and the international and regional centers in each of the zones, as such work should be an integral part of the strategic planning of these centers.

At the workshop itself, the participants adopted the following criteria to help evaluate the applicability of such agricultural technology:

- Technical efficiency;
- Profitability;
- Environmental sustainability;
- Social and cultural acceptability;
- Institutional sustainability.

Based on these criteria, the following gaps were identified as the most prominent for each of the zones:

5.2.1. Arid/Semi-arid Zone

Gaps identified in this zone concern appropriate technologies for livestock/game systems, soil and water management, management to overcome seasonal labor constraints, and new renewable energy systems.

5.2.2. Sub-humid Zone

The gaps here are technologies concerning soil and water management, post-harvest systems, integrated crop and livestock systems, and renewable energy systems.

5.2.3. Humid Zone

As in the sub-humid zone, the gaps identified here were soil and harvest management, and integrated pest management.

5.2.4. Medium- and High-altitude Zone

Apart from soil management and anti-erosion efforts, technological gaps identified concerned pasture management and aqua-culture systems.

5.2.5. Mediterranean zone

In this zone, the biggest gaps are in natural resource management technologies.

5.2.6. Elevated Veldt Zone

The gaps here are those related to technologies which have to do with resource management systems for small farmers (see Box 4 on the impact of the Apartheid policy).

5.3. Mechanisms for the Development and Diffusion of Appropriate Agricultural Technologies

Participants agreed that these gaps must be addressed in the medium and long term. Hence, the workshop recommends:

- Strategic planning at several levels; notably at the level of the NARS to establish the priorities in a rigorous manner;
- A systematic involvement of all the key actors (farmers, traders, processors, etc.) in the development and diffusion of technologies;
- The creation of a system of incentives for researchers and extension agents to induce them to respond adequately to the demands of farmers. In order to create such a system, it is necessary to set up unambiguous mechanisms to ensure funding for the NARS;
- The creation of a network of researchers and extension agents to develop the critical mass necessary to generate and improve technologies continuously;
- The development of a training program based on a systems approach (farming systems, sub-sectors, and so on). This program should facilitate the integration of the social sciences with the technical and biological sciences related to agriculture;
- The strengthening of relations between research, extension, and farmers in all programs.

5.4. Communication

According to the participants, agricultural transformation presupposes a greater sharing of information among all development partners. In this regard, researchers have an interest to in assuring a broader outreach effort to make their research results available to farmers, policy makers, development partners and broader public.

Specifically, the workshop concluded that NARS need to be strengthened so that they can better communicate among themselves. It's also important to foster the development of a network between the IARCs and the NARS by capitalizing on the latest communication technologies (email, Internet, and so on).

More broadly, the participants recommended the strengthening of links between agencies dealing with agriculture and the ministries of finance so the latter focus more attention on the structural transformation of agriculture as a means of fostering broad-based economic growth. In this context, the workshop proposed the establishment of pro-active groups which lobby for the promotion of agricultural research.

6. ANALYTIC AGENDA AND FOLLOW-UP ACTIONS

6.1. Analytic Agenda

The following agenda emanates from the discussion at the Abidjan workshop and from other studies and research in the field. Capitalizing on this work allows us to identify the main emphases needed in future work in this area.

Following Harare, the Abidjan workshop has put back onto the agenda the role of policies, investments, and technologies in the structural transformation of African agriculture. The arguments in favor of agricultural transformation are widely known. The participants at the Abidjan workshop argued that we need to go beyond those general arguments to identify new approaches that will allow research to contribute to the process of agricultural transformation, which everyone hopes to achieve in the first decades of the next century.

Many questions remain for of the players involved. However, increasingly scarce resources and time constraints require that priorities be set among the various concerns raised within this report. These concerns do not cover the totality of the issues related to agricultural transformation, but they reflect an effort to synthesize the current debates. They also help to link new research themes with new research approaches. They also illustrate the willingness of the researchers to commit themselves to carrying out additional studies, with the aim of meeting again in the short-term and use these studies to feed into decisions regarding priority-setting.

The Abidjan workshop itself focused particularly on factors one could call the *missing links* in the structural transformation process of African agriculture, such as farmer participation, regional integration, and mobilization of domestic resources. The workshop participants agreed that only pro-active policies would engender decisive reforms. These reforms must explicitly target the promotion/mobilization of investments that favor technological and institutional improvements as well as substantial reduction of transaction costs in the agricultural system. These policies involve institutional and regulatory measures, mobilization of domestic resources, and strengthening the regional competitive position in order to induce and increase the capacity of the various actors to invest more in agricultural transformation.

Building on this overarching view of the problem, the Abidjan participants developed the following analytic agenda:

- How to accompany and support village/farmer organizations, which are currently emerging everywhere in Africa? These organizations must become pro-active players with real power, ensuring that farmers participate in the development and implementation choices regarding policies, investments and income for which they are the primary intended beneficiaries. What are the mechanisms and methods to follow?
- What strategy should be used to allocate investments between "high-potential" areas and more marginal zones, if the goal is to foster *broad-based* development? How to

incorporate land tenure concerns (access to, and control of natural resources) in the transformation process?

- How to ensure an intelligent, renewed commitment on the part of the public sector, whose hasty retreat during the era of structural adjustment has often left gaps, especially regarding a strategy for investing in the minimum infrastructure necessary for production and marketing (including domestic, regional and international trade)? What are the different types of infrastructure needed? At which locations? To be undertaken by which professional organizations? What kind of institutional innovations and what regulatory frameworks would be appropriate to create incentives for the various actors? (e.g., rural AGETIPEs -- see Box 5).
- How to attract non-traditional investments into agriculture? What would be the contractual protocols needed (e.g., rural investment code)? What incentives should be offered while still avoiding monopolistic situations? How to ensure the coordination of investments between the different sectors, noticeably between the agricultural and financial sectors? (See Box 6).
- What are viable ways of organizing the production and marketing of technologies that would involve farmers and other users from the private and public sectors and that also require mobilization of domestic resources?
- How can funding from regional and international institutions be attracted and made profitable (e.g., through formulation of a guide for these institutions regarding investments related to agricultural transformation)?
- What are effective models to assure sustainable financing for restructured and "reinvigorated" NARS, which at the same time work to assure that research is coordinated and articulated across various levels (e.g., between NARS and IARCs)?

6.2. Follow-Up Actions

In order to avoid just ending with a set of conclusions and resolutions, the workshop has established a plan to follow up on the work done in Abidjan. This plan consists of short- and medium-term follow-up actions as well as a work plan:

6.2.1. *Follow-Up*

Short term: Complete the minutes of the workshop, including the formulation of a work plan.

Medium term: Involve sub-regionally based networks of participants who will analyze and thoroughly study the concerns and issues raised and share the experiences of each of the zones through a broader system to swap scientific and technical information.

This network will serve as a working group which will help support the African continent, notably through ADB and other development partners, in the definition, the monitoring and the evaluation of policies and strategies to encourage the structural transformation of agriculture. One of the immediate outputs of the Abidjan workshop is the organization by the CILSS of a debate on the same issues facing the Sahelian sub-region (Bamako workshop, on structural transformation of agriculture, December 1995).

ANNEXES

ANNEX I: LIST OF PARTICIPANTS

ATELIER SUR LA TRANSFORMATION AGRICOLE EN AFRIQUE WORKSHOP ON AGRICULTURAL TRANSFORMATION IN AFRICA

Banque Africaine de Développement/ African Development Bank
USAID, Africa Bureau, Office of Sustainable Development (AFR/SD/PSGE/FSP)
Institut du Sahel/PRISAS
September 26-30, 1995

List of workshop participants/ Liste des participants

Abalu, George

UN Economic Commission for Africa

JEFAD/UNECA P.O. Box 3001

Addis Ababa, Ethiopia

tel: (251)1-51-04-89

fax: 251-1-51-44-16

e-mail: ABALU@padis.gn.apc.org

Aklilu, A.

African Development Bank

01 BP 1387

Abidjan, Côte d'Ivoire

tel: 225-20-44-73 fax: 225-20-40-99

Antoine, Pierre

Winrock International

Petit Jean Mountain

RR # 3

Morrilton, AR 72110-9537

USA

tel: 1-501-727-5435 fax: 1-501-727-5417

e-mail: PPA@msmail.winrock.org

Aw, Oumar

African Development Bank

(version: 30 Sept. 1995)

01 BP 1387

Abidjan, Côte d'Ivoire

tel: 225 20 54 17 fax: 225-20-49-07

e-mail: erc@afdev.demon.com.uk

Ba, Moussa Batchily

INSAH B.P. 1530

Bamako, Mali

tel: (223) 23-02-37 fax: (223) 22-23-37

Badiane, Ousmane

IFPRI

1200 Seventeenth Street, NW Washington, DC 20036-3097

USA

tel: 1-(202) 862-8137 fax: 1-(202) 467-4439

e-mail: o.badiane@cgnet.com

Balle, Pity IDEFOR/CTFT

Centre Technique Forestier Tropical 08 BP 33

Abidjan 08, Côte d'Ivoire

tel: 225 44 2858 fax: 225 44 2108

Ban-Koffi, Louis CIRT 08 B.P. 881 Abidjan, Côte d'Ivoire

tel: 225 44 39 78 225 44 52 44

Bedingar, Touba

INSAH B.P. 1530 Bamako, Mali

tel: (223) 22-23-37 fax: (223) 22-23-37

Berté, Kama ENSA B.P. 1313 Yamoussoukro, Côte d'Ivoire

tel: 225-64-07-70 fax: 225-64-17-49

Camara, Aisata CIRES Universite National de Côte d'Ivoire 08 BP 1295

Abidjan 08, Côte d'Ivoire

tel: 225 44 43 63 fax: 225 44 08 29

Camara, Youssouf Department of Agricultural Economics Michigan State University 202 Agriculture Hall

East Lansing, MI 48824-1039

USA

tel: 1-517-353-9596

e-mail: camaray1@student.msu.edu

D'Silva, Brian

Agency for International Development

Bureau for Africa

Office for Sustainable Development

(AFR/SD/PSGE/FSP) SA-8A, Room 210

Washington, DC 20523-0089

USA

tel: 1-703-235-5254 fax: 1-703-235-3805

e-mail: bdsilva@usaid.gov

Dapaah, Sam

PPMED Ministry of Food and

Agriculture, Ghana

Box M37 Accra, Ghana

tel: 233-21-666-567 fax: 223-21-668-245

Deng, Lual

African Development Bank

01 BP 1387

Abidjan, Côte d'Ivoire

tel: 225-20-41-99 (office)

fax: 225-20-49-07 Tlx: 23812-AFDEV-CI Dioné, Josué PRISAS/INSAH B.P. 1530 Bamako, Mali

tel: 223-22-09-18 fax: 223-22-09-18

e-mail: jdione@prisas.malinet.ml

Farrelly, Laura
Department of Agricultural Economics
Michigan State University
202 Agriculture Hall
East Lansing, MI 48824-1039
USA

tel: 1-517-353-1851

e-mail: farrelly@pilot.msu.edu

Fosu, Yerfi Department of Agricultural Economics University of Ghana Box 323, Legon Accra, Ghana

tel: 233-21-775-381 fax: 223-21-668-425

Gardner, George Agency for International Development Bureau for Africa Office of Sustainable Development (AFR/SD/PSGE/FSP) SA-8A, Room 210 Washington, DC 20523-0089 USA

tel: 1-703-235-3808 fax: 1-703-235-3805

e-mail: ggardner@usaid.gov

Gebre, Hagos [Paper contributor but could not attend]
Ministry of Planning and Econ. Dev.,
Ethiopia
P.O. Box 1037
Addis Ababa, Ethiopia

tel: 251-1-11-17-16 fax: 251-1-55-38-44

Helland, Johan CHR Michelsen Institute Fantofvegen 38 N-5036 FANTOFT Norway

tel: 47-55-57-40-00 fax: 47-55-57-4166

e-mail: Johanh@amadeus.cmi.no

Ikpi, Anthony
Department of Agricultural Economics
University of Ibadan
Ibadan, Nigeria
tal: 234,00,404305

tel: 234-90-404305 fax: 234-2-810-3127

Knipscheer, Henk Winrock International Petit Jean Mountain RR # 3 Morrilton, AR 72110-9537

USA

tel: 1-501-727-5435 fax: 1-501-727-5417

e-mail: HCK@msmail.winrock.org

Kapita, B. D. S. Taz House Cha Cha Cha Road P.O. Box 30395 Lusaka, Zambia

tel: (260)-1-223 222 or 222 797 (260)-1-610135 (home)

fax: (260)-1-222 736

Lufumba, Charles African Development Bank 01 BP 1387 Abidjan, Côte d'Ivoire tel: 225 20 53 67

fax: 225 20 49 07

Magagula, Glenn T.
University of Swaziland
Private Bag 4
Kwaluseni
Swaziland

tel: 268-84723 fax: 268-85276

M'Bodj, Yamar Food Security Technical Advisor Secrétariat Exécutif, CILSS B.P. 7049 Ouagadougou BURKINA FASO

Phone: (226) 30-67-58 Fax: (226) 30-67-57.

Mbwanda, Charles African Development Bank 01 BP 1387 Abidjan, Côte d'Ivoire tel: 225 20 46 36

fax: 225 20 49 07

Mohammed, Nadir African Development Bank 01 BP 1387 Abidjan, Côte d'Ivoire tel: 225 20 51 27

fax: 225 20 49 07

Molla, Daniel Ministry of Economic Development and Cooperation P.O. Box 1037 Addis Ababa, Ethiopia tel: 251 1 12 89 73

fax: 251 1 55 38 44

e-mail: FSRP@padis.gn.apc.org

Morton, Millie Agency for International Development Bureau for Africa Office of Sustainable Development (AFR/SD/PSGE) SA-8A, Room 210 Washington, DC 20523-0089 USA

tel: 703-235-3827 fax: 703-235-3805

e-mail: mmorton@usaid.gov

Ndisale, Brave African Development Bank 01 BP 1387 Abidjan, Côte d'Ivoire

tel: 225-44-94-69 fax: 225-20-49-07

Prudencio, Coffi USAID/REDSO/WCA American Embassy 01 BP 1712 Abidjan Côte d'Ivoire

tel. 225-41-45-28 fax: 225-41-35-44

Reddy, Sanath K.
USAID/REDSO/WCA
American Embassy
01 BP 1712
Abidjan
Côte d'Ivoire
tel. 225-41-45-28

fax: 225-41-35-44 e-mail: sreddy@usaid.gov

Savadogo, Kimsey
Centre de Documentation, de Recherche
Economique et
Sociale de l'Université de Ouagadougou
(CEDRES)
03 B.P. 7021
Université de Ouagadougou
Ouagadougou, Burkina Faso
tel. 226-30-73-69

Telex: 5270 UNIOUAGA BF

fax: 226-31-26-86

Scott, Guy [Paper contributor but could not attend] Trotover Farm P.O. Box 320015 Woodlands, Lusaka Zambia

tel/fax: 260-1-254619

e-mail: Mano@puku.unza.zm

Sibisi, Luther
Development Bank of Southern Africa
P.O. Box 1234
Halfway House
1685
Headway Mill, Midrand
Transvaal
South Africa

tel: 27-11-313-3288 fax: 27-11-313-3086

Sithole, Gordon Ministry of Lands, Agriculture, and Rural Resettlement, Zimbabwe Private Bag 7701 Causeway, Harare, Zimbabwe

tel: 263-4-702-015 fax: 263-4-704-363

Snrech, Serge Club du Sahel/OCDE 2, rue Andre-Pascal 75775 Paris cedex 16 France Tel. 8-011-33-1-44-14-69-13

Fax 8-011-33-1-44-14-69-19 e-mail: Serge.Snrech@reao.rio.net

Sonoko, Fatoumata INSAH/PRISAS B.P. 1530 Bamako, Mali

tel: 223-22-09-18 fax: 223-22-09-18

Spencer, Dunstan S.C. 27 Guy Street P.M.B. 108 Freetown, Sierra Leone

tel: 232-22-228-669 fax: 232-22-224-618

e-mail: dspencer@sl.baobab.com

Staatz, John Department of Agricultural Economics Michigan State University 202 Agriculture Hall East Lansing, MI 48824-1039

tel: 517-355-1519 fax: 517-432-1800

e-mail: staatz@pilot.msu.edu

van Rooyen, Johan University of Pretoria Faculty of Biological and Agricultural Sciences Pretoria 0002 Republic of South Africa

tel: 27-12-420-3280 fax: 27-12-342-2713

e-mail: JvRooyen@agric.up.ac.za

Wane, Hamdou Rabby CERPOD/INSAH B.P. 1530 Bamako, Mali

tel: 223-22-80-86 fax: 223-22-78-31

e-mail: hwane@cerpod.malinet.ml

Yumkella, Kandeh Secretary of State, Sierra Leone Department of Trade, Industry, and State Enterprises George Street Freetown, Sierra Leone

tel: 232-22-2255 fax: 232-22-228-373

ANNEX II: WORKSHOP AGENDA

WORKSHOP ON AGRICULTURAL TRANSFORMATION IN AFRICA

African Development Bank USAID, Africa Bureau, Office of Sustainable Development (AFR/SD/PSGE/FSP) Institut du Sahel/PRISAS

Sept. 25-29, 1995 Abidjan, Côte d'Ivoire

(Presentations and discussion in English and French, with simultaneous translation)

The aim of the workshop is to identify *strategic investments and policy actions* that African governments, firms, and organizations and donors can undertake to foster agricultural and economic transformation. The challenge is to identify ways of fostering agricultural transformation that will stimulate broader economic growth while increasing food security, reducing poverty, and protecting the environment.

Workshop participants will stay at the Golf-Intercontinental Hotel. All workshop sessions from Tuesday through Thursday will be held at the Golf Hotel. The final day's session, on Friday, 29 September, will be held in the main auditorium of the African Development Bank, Avenue Joseph Anoma. The auditorium is located on the 18th floor of the South Tower. The shuttle bus to the ADB will leave the Golf Hotel on Friday promptly at 8:00 am.

The working sessions on late Monday morning, and on Tuesday through Thursday, will be held in the ANONO Room, located on the terrace level of the Golf Hotel.

Monday,	
25 Sept.	Monday is designed as a "reading day" and a day for informal organization
	of workshop procedures. This will allow workshop participants who arrive
	over the weekend to review documents that they may have received late. It
	will also informal interaction with workshop coordinators on organizational
	procedures to be followed during the workshop. (Note: not all arrive
	before Monday.)
Tuesday	
26 Sept.	
8:30-9:00	Discussion of workshop logistics - John Staatz, Laura Farrelly and

Fatoumata Sanoko

9:00-10:30 *Official Opening*: Opening remarks by:

- Ivoirian Minister of Scientific Research and Higher Education
- Mr. A. SANGOWAWA, Vice President of the African Development Bank
- Director, USAID/REDSO/WCA
- Dr. Tom Olson, Director of the Food Security and Productivity Unit, Africa Bureau (AFR/SD/PSGE)
- Yamar Mbodj (CILSS)

10:30-10:45 Coffee Break

10:45-11:30 Discussion of Workshop Objective and Procedures

- Workshop Objectives Lual Deng (ADB), George Gardner (USAID/SD/PSGE), and John Staatz (MSU)
- Workshop Procedures Moussa Batchily Ba (INSAH)
- Discussion of the proposed agenda

11:30-13:00 Session I (Plenary) - Anomo Room, Golf Hotel: Agricultural Transformation in Africa: The Need, the Challenges, and Perspectives for the Future

Chairperson: Glenn Magagula

Rapporteurs: Tony Ikpi and H. Rabby Wane

- 11:30-12:00 "A 20/20 Perspective on Agricultural Transformation in Africa" Ousmane Badiane, IFPRI
- 12:00-12:30 "Agricultural Transformation: The Missing Link" Lual Deng, ADB
- 12:30-13:00 "What Path for Agricultural Transformation in Africa?" Dunstan Spencer

13:00-14:30 Lunch at the Golf Hotel

14:30-15:30 Session I (continued): Discussion

Chairperson: Kandeh Yumkella

Rapporteurs: Chris Ackello-Ogutu and Oumar Aw

- 14:30-15:00 Discussion Openers: Gordon Sithole and Kimsey Savadogo
- 15:00-15:30 Open discussion, with the aim of arriving at moving beyond Africawide generalizations. What are the challenges facing agricultural transformation by:
 - Socio-political setting e.g.,

- Countries with predominantly small-holder agriculture and fairly stable political regimes
- Countries with bimodal patterns of land holdings (e.g., South Africa, Zimbabwe)
- Countries currently in or recovering from major disruptions due to war and natural disasters
- Agro-ecological zone

15:45-17:15 Open discussion (continued)

Wednesday

27 Sept. All sessions on Wednesday will be held in the Anomo Room of the Golf Hotel.

8:30-10:30 Session II (Plenary): Country Experiences and Perspectives:

Chairperson: A. Aklilu

Rapporteurs: Johan van Rooyen and Touba Bedingar

- 8:30-8:45 Key issues from previous day's session and issues to address today Member of Rapporteurs Committee
- 8:45-9:05 Zambia Guy Scott's paper presented by B.D.S. Kapita
- 9:05-9:25 South Africa Bongiwe Njobe-Mbuli
- 9:25-9:45 Malawi Davis Ng'ong'onla's paper, presented by Brave Ndisale
- 9:45-10:45 Open Discussion

10:45-11:00 Coffee Break

11:00-12:30 Session II (continued)

Chairperson: A. Aklilu

Rapporteurs: Charles Lufumba and Brian D'Silva

- 11:00-11:20 Ethiopia Hagos Gebre or Daniel Molla
- 11:20-11:40 Tanzania Wilfred Ngirwa's paper presented by Luther Sibisi
- 11:40-12:30 Open Discussion

12:30-	14:00	Lunch at the Golf Hotel	
14:00-	15:30	Session II (Continued)	
		Chairperson: Dunstan Spencer Rapporteurs: Yamar Mbodj and Kimsey Savadogo	
	14:00-14:20	Ghana - Sam Dapaah	
	14:20-14:40	Sahelian Countries - Josué Dioné	
	14:40-15:30	 Open Discussion 	
15:30-	-15:45	Coffee Break	
15:45-	-17:15	Open Discussion and plans for working groups	
Thurs 28 Sep	ot. All se	ssions on Thursday will be held in the Golf Hotel, in the Anomo Room n break-out rooms.	
8:30-9	0:00	Session III: Working groups: Developing Strategies to foster agricultural transformation that reduce poverty while fostering food security and environmental protection	
		Discussion in plenary session (in Anomo Room) of objectives of the working groups	
9:00-1	0:30	Discussion in working groups of the key issues raised in the papers and discussion of the past 2 days. The aim will be to identify key policies, technologies, changes in governance procedures, and investments that could foster agricultural transition in different settings in Africa. What have been the lessons from past experience in attempting to foster transformation? Who needs to do what, and how can these goals be achieved in an era of shrinking donor resources?	
10:30-	10:45	Coffee Break	
10:45-	-12:30	Continue work in small groups	
12:30-	14:00	Lunch at the Golf Hotel	
14:00-	15:30	Continue work in small groups.	

Friday, 29 Sept.	Friday's session will be held at the African Development Bank. The buses will leave the Golf Hotel for the ADB promptly at 8:00.
18:30 - ?	Reception, pool area of the Golf Hotel
17:00-17:15	Brief Plenary session to discuss Friday's plan of work.
15:45-17:00	Small working groups develop summaries of key points to report to the plenary
15:30-15:45	Coffee Break

8:30 -10:45	Session IV:	Plenary - Reporting of key conclusions by working group.
	Chairperson: Rapporteurs:	Touba Bedingar
10:45-11:00	Coffee Break	
11:00-12:15		mal discussions. The committee of rapporteurs will develop workshop summary
12:30-14:00	Lunch (on you	r own)
14:00-15:30	*	mal discussions. The committee of rapporteurs will develop workshop summary
15:30-16:15	Presentation of committee	f preliminary summary to the workshop by the rapporteurs'
16:30 - 17:15 Officia	al closing	

PROPOSED GENERAL WORKSHOP RAPPORTEURS: Chris Ackello-Ogutu, Moussa Batchily Ba, Ousmane Badiane, Charles Mbwanda, John Staatz, with assistance from Millie Morton, Serge Snrech, Laura Farrelly, and Youssouf Camara

ANNEX III: COMPOSITION OF THE WORKING GROUPS AND TERMS OF REFERENCE

A. COMPOSITION OF THE WORKING GROUPS

	I		II		III
	TECHNOLOGY		INVESTMENT	POLI	CIES/INSTITUTIONS
*	TOUBA		AKLILU		<u>ABULU</u>
	BERTHE		DAPAAH		BA
*	FOSU		DENG	*	BADIANE
	GARDNER		DIONE		D'SILVA
	MAGAGULA		HELLAND		IKPI
	MBWANDA		OLSON		NADIR
	MOLLA	**	SAVADOGO	*	SITHOLE
	PRUDENCIO	*	SIBISSI		STAATZ
	REDDY		SNRECH		WANE
**	<u>SPENCER</u>	**	YUMKELLA		FARRELLY
	VAN ROOYEN		KAPITA		

^{**} CHAIRPERSONS

^{*} RAPPORTEURS

B. EXPECTED OUTPUTS

- I. RECOMMENDATIONS/ACTIONS
 - 1. WHAT NEEDS TO BE DONE?
 - 2. WHO SHOULD DO WHAT?
- II. ANALYTIC AGENDA

THEMES FOR FUTURE ANALYSIS

C. QUESTIONS FOR EACH GROUP

TECHNOLOGY GROUP

- CRITERIA FOR DEFINING AGRO-ECOLOGICAL AND OTHER TYPES OF ZONES
- TECHNOLOGY PRODUCTION DIFFUSION PRODUCTION USE

INVESTMENT GROUP

- FINANCING
- CREDIT AND ACCESS TO CREDIT
- SAPs IMPACT OF SAPs AND THE DEGREE TO WHICH REFORMS HAVE BEEN ACTUALLY IMPLEMENTED

POLICIES AND INSTITUTIONS GROUP

- POLICIES (MACRO AND SECTORAL)
- LAND TENURE
- REGIONAL INTEGRATION AND COOPERATION

CROSS-CUTTING QUESTIONS FOR ALL GROUPS

- ACTORS: ROLES, ORGANIZATION, ARRANGEMENTS FOR PARTICIPATION AND COORDINATION
- COMMUNICATION

ANNEX IV: WORKSHOP PAPERS

- Badiane, Ousmane and Christopher L. Delgado, eds. 1995. A 2020 Vision for Food, Agriculture, and the Environment in Sub-Saharan Africa. Food, Agriculture, and the Environment Working Paper No. 4. Washington, D.C.: International Food Policy Research Institute.
- Dapaah, S.K. 1995. Empirical Analysis of the Likely Future Evolution of Agriculture in Ghana and How it Will Affect the Prospects for Longer Term Growth of Agriculture, the Food System and the Broader Economy.
- Deng, Lual A., Charles Mbwanda, Nadir Mohammed, and Charles L. Lufumpa. 1995. Agricultural Transformation in Africa: The Missing Links.
- Dioné, Josué. 1995. Adjustment, Policy Reform, and Agricultural Transformation in the Sahel.
- Gebre, Hagos, Daniel Molla, T.S. Jayne, and James Shaffer. 1995. Designing Strategies to Support a Transformation of Agriculture in Ethiopia.
- Ng'ong'ola, D. H. 1995. Analysis of Policy Reforms and Structural Adjustment Program in Malawi with Emphasis on Agriculture and Trade.
- Ngirwa, Wilfred. 1995. Agriculture Tranformation Issues in Tanzania.
- Njobe-Mbuli, Bongiwe. 1995. Opening Remarks to the Workshop on Analysing Agricultural Comparative Advantage Within an Agroecological Zone Framework in Southern Africa.
- Scott, Guy. 1995. Agricultural Transformation in Zambia: Past Experience and Future Prospects.
- Spencer, Dunstan S. C. 1995. Past Trends and Future Prospects for Agricultural Development in Sub-Saharan Africa.
- van Rooyen, C.J., J.F. Kirsten, J. van Zyl, and N. Vink. 1995. Structural Adjustment, Policy Reform and Agricultural Performance in South Africa.

ANNEX V: OTHER DOCUMENTS

- Boughton, Duncan, Eric Crawford, Julie Howard, James Oehmke, James Shaffer, and John Staatz. 1995. *A Strategic Approach to Agricultural Program Planning in Sub-Saharan Africa*. MSU International Development Working Papers No. 49. East Lansing: Michigan State University.
- Staatz, John M. 1994. The Strategic Role of Food and Agricultural Systems in Fighting Hunger through Fostering Sustainable Economic Growth. MSU Agricultural Economics Staff Paper No. 94-39. East Lansing: Michigan State University.
- World Bank. 1994. *Adjustment in Africa: Reforms, Results, and the Road Ahead.* New York: Oxford University Press.

MSU International Development Papers

How to order from the MSU Bulletin Office:

All domestic orders under \$100 must be prepaid either by check or credit card. Make checks payable to MICHIGAN STATE UNIVERSITY. Charges against credit cards (VISA and MasterCard) must be accompanied by the card's full number and expiration date and the cardholder's signature and daytime business/home phone number. Orders totaling \$100 or more can be billed by MSU. Institutions and firms should use their official purchase order.

All foreign orders must be prepaid only in U.S. dollars by American Express Money Order, International Money Order, U.S.A. Postal Money Order, U.S. Dollar World Money Order, or check, which must be drawn on a United States bank.

For foreign orders, include an additional 20 percent for surface postage. For air mail orders, please call for the appropriate amount due.

Please do not send cash. Payment must be included with orders. All sales are final. When ordering from the Bulletin Office by mail, you will need each item's complete identification number and price. Be sure to print your complete address, including ZIP code.

Fill out and send the order form provided to:

MSU Bulletin Office 10-B Agriculture Hall Michigan State University East Lansing, MI 48824-1039

Fax: (517)353-7168 Tel: (517)355-0240

E-mail: distbulk@msue.msu.edu

Selected copies are available free of charge to individuals in developing countries, although supplies of these are limited. If free copies are no longer available, MSU will send you order information. USAID officials may obtain free copies through A.I.D.'s Development Information System (CDIE) or single copies are available free of charge by writing to the above address at Michigan State University.

Available from the MSU Bulletin Office

MSU INTERNATIONAL DEVELOPMENT PAPERS

. /	
IDP 13	Sources and Effects of Instability in the World Rice Market by T. S. Jayne. 1993. 104 pp. \$11.00 (CDIE reference PN-ABJ-359)
IDP 14	The Impact of Agricultural Technology in Sub-Saharan Africa: A Synthesis of Symposium Findings by James F. Oehmke and Eric C. Crawford. 1993. 33 pp. \$7.00 (CDIE reference PN-ABP-321)
IDP 14F	L'Impact de la technologie agricole en Afrique subsaharienne: Synthese des conclusions du colloque par James F. Oehmke and Eric W. Crawford. 1993. 34 pp. \$7.00 (CDIE reference PN-ABQ-056)
IDP 15	Market-Oriented Strategies to Improve Household Access to Food: Experience from Sub-Saharan Africa by T.S. Jayne, D.L. Tschirley, John M. Staatz, James D. Shaffer, Michael T. Weber, Munhamo Chisvo, and Mulinge Mukumbu.* 1994. 61 pp. \$9.00 (CDIE reference PN-ABS-755)
IDP 16	Improving the Measurement and Analysis of African Agricultural Productivity: Promoting Complementarities between Micro and Macro Data by Valerie Kelly, Jane Hopkins, Thomas Reardon, and Eric Crawford. 1995. 44 pp. \$7.00 (CDIE reference pending)
IDP 17	Promoting Food Security in Rwanda Through Sustainable Agricultural Productivity: Meeting the Challenges of Population Pressure, Land Degradation, and Poverty by Daniel C. Clay, Fidele Byiringiro, Jaakko Kangasniemi, Thomas Reardon, Bosco Sibomana, Laurence Uwamariya, and David Tardif-Douglin. 1995. 115 pp. \$11.00 (CDIE reference PN-ABX-501)
IDP 18	Promoting Farm Investment for Sustainable Intensification of African Agriculture by Thomas Reardon, Eric Crawford,

	and Valerie Kelly. 1995. 37 pp. \$7.00 (CDIE reference
	PN-ABX-753)
19	Effects of Market Reform on Access to Food by Low-

IDP 19	Effects of Market Reform on Access to Food by Low-
	Income Households: Evidence from Four Countries in
	Eastern and Southern Africa by T.S. Jayne, L. Rubey, D.
	Tschirley, M. Mukumbu, M. Chisvo, A. Santos, M. Weber,
	and P. Diskin. 1995. 83 pp. \$9.00. (CDIE reference PN-
	ABX-754)

IDP 20	Cash Crop and Foodgrain Productivity in Senegal:
	Historical View, New Survey Evidence, and Policy
	Implications by Valerie Kelly, Bocar Diagana, Thomas
	Reardon, Matar Gaye, and Eric Crawford. 1996. 140 pp
	\$13.00 (CDIE reference PN-ABY-173)

Not issued
Determinants of Farm Productivity in Africa: A Synthesis of
Four Case Studies by Thomas Reardon, Valerie Kelly, Eric
Crawford, Thomas Jayne, Kimseyinga Savadogo, and
Daniel Clay. 1996. 50 pp. \$7.00 (CDIE reference
pending)

WORKING PAPERS

IDWP 39/1	The Impact of Investments in Maize Research and
	Dissemination in Zambia. Part I: Main Report. Julie
	Howard with George Chitalu and Sylvester Kalonge. 1993.
	112 pp. \$11.00 (CDIE reference PN-ABS-724)
IDWP 39/2	The Impact of Investments in maize Research and
	Dissemination in Zambia. Part II: Annexes. Julie Howard
	with George Chitalu and Sylvester Kalonge. 1993. 81 pp.
	\$9.00 (CDIE reference PN-ABS-727)
IDWP 40	An Economic Analysis of Research and Technology
	Transfer of Millet, Sorghum, and Cowpeas in Niger by
	Valentina Mazzucato and Samba Lv. 1994, 104 pp.

\$11.00. (CDIE reference PN-ABT-283 or PN-ABS-728)

IDWP 41	Agricultural Research Impact Assessment: The Case of	IDWP 50	Finding the Balance Between Agricultural and Trade
IDWF 41	Maize Technology Adoption in Southern Mali by Duncan	IDWF 39	Policy: Rwanda Coffee Policy in Flux by David Tardif-
	Boughton and Bruno Henry de Frahan. 1994. 95 pp.		Douglin, Jean-Léonard Ngirumwami, Jim Shaffer, Anastase
IDWD 40	\$11.00 (CDIE reference PN-ABS-729)		Murekezi, and Théobald Kampayana. 1996. 14 pp. \$7.00
IDWP 42	The Rate of Return to Agricultural Research in Uganda: The Case of Oilseeds and Maize by Rita Laker-Ojok.	IDWP 60	(CDIE reference PN-ABY-802) Agriculture R&D and Economic Growth by Elias
	1994. 56 pp. \$7.00 (CDIE reference PN-ABS-730)	IDWF 00	Dinopoulos. 1996. 25 pp. \$7.00 (CDIE reference
IDWP 43	* * * * * * * * * * * * * * * * * * * *		pending)
	and Extension in Northern Cameroon by James A. Sterns	IDWP 61	Zambia's Stop-And-Go Revolution: The Impact of Policies
	and Richard H. Bernsten. 1994. 48 pp. \$7.00 (CDIE		and Organizations on the Development and Spread of
IDWP 44	reference PN-ABS-731) Food Security II Cooperative Agreement: Project Fact		Maize Technology by Julie A. Howard and Catherine Mungoma. 1996. 39 pp. \$7.00 (CDIE reference PN-ABY-
10111 44	Sheets (1994 Version) by MSU Food Security II Research		803)
	Team. 1994. 104 pp. \$11.00 (CDIE reference PN-ABW-	IDWP 62	
	277)		Empirical Evidence and Policy Issues by John Strauss and
IDWP 45	-		Kathleen Beegle. 1996. 60 pp. \$9.00 (CDIE reference PN-ABY-848)
	The Case of Groundnuts and Sesame by Rita Laker-Ojok. 1994. 50 pp. \$7.00 (CDIE reference pending)	IDWP 63	
IDWP 46			Developing Countries: Lessons Learned with Implications
	Consumption, and Nutrition in Africa: Empirical Findings		for Sub-Saharan Africa by Laura L. Farrelly. 1996. 46 pp.
	and Issues from the Literature by Patrick Diskin.* 1994.	IDWD 64	\$7.00 (CDIE reference PN-ABY-849)
IDWP 47	47 pp. \$7.00 (CDIE reference PN-ABS-732) Targeting Assistance to the Poor and Food Insecure: A	IDWP 64	Market Information Sources Available Through the Internet: Daily to Yearly Market and Outlook Reports,
10111 47	Review of the Literature by Mattias Lundberg and Patrick		Prices, Commodities and Quotes by Jean-Charles Le
	Diskin.* 1994. 56 pp. \$7.00 (CDIE reference PN-ABS-		Vallée. 1996. 21 pp. \$7.00 (CDIE reference PN-ABZ-754)
IDWD 40	733)	IDWP 65	
IDWP 48	Interactions Between Food Market Reform and Regional Trade in Zimbabwe and South Africa: Implications for		Sheets (1996 Version) by MSU Food Security II Research Team. 1997. 190 pp. \$15.00 (CDIE reference PN-ABZ-
	Food Security by T.S. Jayne, T. Takavarasha, and Johan		902)
	van Zyl. 1994. 39 pp. \$7.00 (CDIE reference pending)	IDWP 66	,
IDWP 49	0		Productivity in Africa: How Institutional Design Makes a
	Planning in Sub-Saharan Africa, by Duncan Boughton, Eric		Difference by T.S. Jayne, James D. Shaffer, John M.
	Crawford, Julie Howard, James Oehmke, James Shaffer, and John Staatz. 1995. 59 pp. \$9.00 (CDIE reference		Staatz, and Thomas Reardon. 1997. 39 pp. \$7.00 (CDIE reference PN-ACB-867)
	PN-ABU-948)	IDWP 67	Final ReportWorkshop on Experiences and Options for
IDWP 49F	.,		Priority Setting in NARS, August 12-16, 1996, Nairobi,
	programme de recherche agricole en Afrique sub-		Kenya, edited by Julie Howard and Eric Crawford. 1997.
	saharienne, by Duncan Boughton, Eric Crawford, Julie Howard, James Oehmke, James Shaffer et John Staatz.	IDWP 68	76 pp. \$9.00 (CDIE reference PN-ACB-868) The Effect of Liberalization on Grain Prices and Marketing
	1997. 67 pp. \$9.00 (CDIE reference PN-ACA-071)	IDWI 00	Margins in Ethiopia, by T.S. Jayne, Asfaw Negassa, and
IDWP 50			Robert J. Myers. 1998. 21 pp. \$7.00 (CDIE reference
	South Africa, by T.S. Jayne, Milan Hajek and Johan van		pending)
IDWD 54	Zyl. 1995. 51 pp. \$7.00 (CDIE reference PN-ABW-091)	IDWP 69	<u> </u>
IDWP 51	Confronting the Silent Challenge of Hunger: A Conference Synthesis, by T.S. Jayne, David Tschirley, Lawrence		Mozambican Smallholders? by Julie A. Howard, José Jaime Jeje, David Tschirley, Paul Strasberg, Eric W.
	Rubey, Thomas Reardon, John M. Staatz, and Michael		Crawford, and Michael T. Weber. 1998. 98 pp. \$11.00.
	Weber. 1995. 37 pp. \$7.00 (CDIE reference PN-ABW-		(CDIE reference PN-ACD-889)
IDWD 50	276)	IDWP 70	Incentives for Fertilizer Use in Sub-Saharan Africa: A
IDWP 52	An Ex-Ante Evaluation of Farming Systems Research in Northeastern Mali: Implications for Research and		Review of Empirical Evidence on Fertilizer Response and Profitability by David Yanggen, Valerie Kelly, Thomas
	Extension Policy, by Bruno Henry de Frahan. 1995. 82		Reardon, and Anwar Naseem. 1998. 109 pp. \$11.00 (CDIE
	pp. \$9.00 (CDIE reference pending)		reference PN-ACD-890)
IDWP 53		IDWP 71	,
	of Consumer Maize Preferences in Maputo, Mozambique,		Input Use and Productivity in Kenya by Paul J. Strasberg,
	by David L. Tschirley and Ana Paula Santos. 1995. 16 pp. \$7.00 (CDIE reference PN-ABX-988)		T.S. Jayne, Takashi Yamano, James Nyoro, Daniel Karanja, and John Strauss. 1999. 28 pp. \$7.00 (CDIE
IDWP 54	· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·		reference PN-ACE-364)
	Sheets (1995/96 Version), compiled by MSU Food Security	IDWP 72	Successes and Challenges of Food Market Reform:
	II Research Team. 1996. 151 pp. \$13.00. (CDIE		Experiences from Kenya, Mozambique, Zambia, and
IDWP 55	reference PN-ABY-072) Trends in Real Food Prices in Six Sub-Saharan African		Zimbabwe by T.S. Jayne, Mulinge Mukumbu, Munhamo Chisvo, David Tschirley, Michael T. Weber, Ballard Zulu,
1D 881 33	Countries, by T.S. Jayne, et al. 1996. 70 pp. \$9.00 (CDIE		Robert Johansson, Paula Santos, and David Soroko. 1999.
	reference PN-ABY-172)		45 pp. \$7.00 (CDIE reference PN-ACE-389)
IDWP 56		IDWP 73	Macro Trends and Determinants of Fertilizer use in Sub-
	Southern Africa: Lessons for Increasing Agricultural		Saharan Africa by Anwar Naseem and Valerie Kelly. 1999.
	Productivity and Access to Food, by T.S. Jayne and Stephen Jones. 1996. 40 pp. \$7.00 (CDIE reference PN-	IDWP 74	31 pp. \$7.00 (CDIE reference pending) Effects of Cash Crop Production on Food Crop
	ABY-547)		Productivity in Zimbabwe: Synergies Or Trade-offs? by
IDWP 57	An Economic and Institutional Analysis of Maize Research		Jones Govereh and T.S. Jayne. 1999. 25 pp. \$7.00 (CDIE
	in Kenya, by Daniel David Karanja. 1996. 24 pp. \$7.00		reference pending)
IDWP 58	(CDIE reference PN-ABY-548) Fighting an Uphill Battle: Population Pressure and	IDWP 75	Workshop on Agricultural Transformation in Africa:
.5 00	Declining Land Productivity in Rwanda by Daniel C. Clay.		Abidjan, Cote d'Ivoire, September 26-29, 1995 by Moussa
	1996. 28 pp. \$7.00 (CDIE reference PN-ABM-627)		Batchily Ba, John M. Staatz, Laura Farrelly, Youssouf

Camara, and Georges Dimithè. 1999. 51 pp. \$7.00 (CDIE reference pending)			
* Also published by A.I.D./Washington			

Mail your marked form (via mail or fax) to:

MSU Bulletin Office

10-B Agriculture Hall

Michigan State University

East Lansing, MI 48824-1039

Fax: (517) 353-7168

Phone: (517) 355-0240

E-mail:

distbulk@msue.msu.edu

ORDER FORM for Papers Available from MSU

Required with all charge card ord	lers:	
Check one: VISA	MasterCard	
Card number:		
Signature:		
Expiration Date: Daytime P	hone Number: ()	
SHIP TO:		
Name:		
Address:		
Domestic orders totaling \$	100 or more can be be	illed by MSU. Institutions
and firms should use their	official purchase orde	er. All other orders,
including foreign orders, m	nust be pre-paid.	
Moult and aboles with the	quantity panded and	onton total abandos
Mark each choice with the	quantity needed and t	enter total charges.
IDP 13 \$11.00	IDWP 45 \$7.00	IDWP 61 \$7.00
IDP 14 \$7.00	IDWP 46 \$7.00	IDWP 62 \$9.00
IDP 14F \$7.00	IDWP 47 \$7.00	IDWP 63 \$7.00
IDP 15 \$9.00	IDWP 48 \$7.00	IDWP 64 \$7.00
IDP 16 \$7.00	IDWP 49 \$9.00	IDWP 65 \$15.00
IDP 17 \$11.00	IDWP 49F \$9.00	IDWP 66 \$7.00
IDP 18 \$7.00	IDWP 50 \$7.00	IDWP 67 \$9.00
IDP 19 \$9.00	IDWP 51 \$7.00	IDWP 68 \$7.00
IDP 20 \$13.00	IDWP 52 \$9.00	IDWP 69 \$11.00
IDP 22 \$7.00	IDWP 53 \$7.00	IDWP 70 \$11.00
IDWP 39/1 \$11.00	IDWP 54 \$13.00	IDWP 71 \$7.00
IDWP 39/2 \$9.00	IDWP 55 \$9.00	IDWP 72 \$7.00
IDWP 40 \$11.00	IDWP 56 \$7.00	IDWP 73 \$7.00
IDWP 41 \$11.00	IDWP 57 \$7.00	IDWP 74 \$7.00
IDWP 42 \$7.00	IDWP 58 \$7.00	IDWP 75 \$7.00
IDWP 43 \$7.00	IDWP 59 \$7.00	
IDWP 44 \$11.00	IDWP 60 \$7.00	
Sub-Total		\$
	orders, surface mail)	\$
	Airmail postage	\$
(call or e-mai	l for rates)	
Total Amount	t	\$

The MSU International Development Papers published before 1993 (IDP numbers 1-11, IDWP numbers 1-38, and RP numbers 1-31) may be obtained through A.I.D.'s Development Information System (CDIE) and are not available from the MSU Bulletin Office.

How to Order MSU International Development Papers from USAID:

The MSU International Development Papers published before 1993 (IDP numbers 1-11, IDWP numbers 1-38, and RP numbers 1-31) may be obtained **only** through A.I.D.'s Development Information System (CDIE).

The CDIE reference numbers are shown on the following list. They are also available in A.I.D.'s Development Information System CD-ROM Database (CD-DIS), which is available to USAID missions and to USAID/W offices free of charge and to the public for an annual subscription fee.

USAID's Internet Gopher address:

GOPHER.INFO.USAID.GOV. Citations (including abstracts) to USAID documents can be found under the Gopher main menu item "Reports and Publications." Document identification necessary to order the full document in paper or microfiche form from the Development Information Services Clearinghouse (DISC) is included with the citations.

If you would like to order any of the pre-1993 IDP's, IDWP's or RP's, please do not request them from MSU, but send your request--with the correct CDIE reference number--directly to the DISC:

Mail: Development Information Services

Clearinghouse

1500 Wilson Blvd., Suite 1010

Arlington, VA 22209-2404

Telephone: 703-351-4006

Fax: 703-351-4039

Telex: 703-351-4038

Internet e-mail address: AIDDISC@CAPCON.NET

If you cannot provide the CDIE reference number for the publication you wish to order, contact the A.I.D. Development Information Center Reference Librarian, who will supply you with the complete order information:

Telephone: 703-875-4818 Fax: 703-875-5269

Prices

Documents are provided to AID employees without charge. Others are required to pay reproduction and mailing/handling costs. Current prices may be obtained by contacting the Document Distribution Unit. A limited number of microfiche copies are provided without charge to LDC institutions.

Exchange programs

CDIE has established reciprocal agreements with selected development organizations who provide documents or other information resources to CDIE in exchange for distribution of CDIE documents or information. The materials received as a result of these exchange agreements are located in CDIE.

Deposit accounts

Deposit accounts may be established by USAID contractors and other users to facilitate the payment for documents ordered.

Available in A.I.D.'s Development Information System (CDIE)

MSU INTERNATIONAL DEVELOPMENT PAPERS

IDP 1 Research on Agricultural Development in Sub-Saharan Africa: A Critical Survey by Carl K. Eicher and Doyle C. Baker. 1982. 346 pp. (CDIE reference PN-AAL-692) IDP 1F Etude Critique de la Recherche sur la Developpement Agricole en Afrique Subsaharienne par Carl K. Eicher et Doyle C. Baker. 1982. 345 pp. (CDIE reference PN-ABA- 840) IDP 2 A Simulation Study of Constraints on Traditional Farming Systems in Northern Nigeria by Eric W. Crawford. 1982. 136 pp. (CDIE reference PN-ABF-677) IDP 3 Farming Systems Research in Eastern Africa: The Experience of CIMMYT and Some National Agricultural Research Services, 1976-81 by M.P. Collinson. 1982. 67 pp. (CDIE reference PN-AAM-826) IDP 4 Animal Traction in Eastem Upper Volta: A Technical, Economic and Institutional Analysis by Vincent Barrett, Gregory Lassiter, David Wilcock, Doyle Baker, and Eric Crawford. 1982. 132 pp. (CDIE reference PN-AAM-826) IDP 5 Socio-Economic Determinants of Food Consumption and Production in Rural Sierra Leone: Application of an Agricultural Household Model with Several Commodities by John Strauss. 1983. 91 pp. (CDIE reference PN-AAM-031) IDP 6 Applications of Decision Theory and the Measurement of Attitudes Towards Risk in Farm Management Research in Industrialized and Third World Settings by Beverity Fleisher and Lindon J. Robison. 1985. 105 pp. (CDIE reference PN-AAR-134) IDP 7 Private Decisions and Public Policy: The Price Dilemman in Food Systems in Developing Countries by Peter Timmer. 1986. 58 pp. (CDIE reference PN-AAR-06) IDP 8 Rice Marketing in Senegal River Valley: Research Findings and Policy Reform Options by Michael L. Morris. 1987. 89 IDP 15 An Evaluation of Selected Microcomputer Statistical
IDP 1F
Agricole en Afrique Subsaharienne par Carl K. Eicher et Doyle C. Baker. 1982. 345 pp. (CDIE reference PN-ABA-840) IDP 2 A Simulation Study of Constraints on Traditional Farming Systems in Northern Nigeria by Eric W. Crawford. 1982. 136 pp. (CDIE reference PN-AAP-677) IDP 3 Farming Systems Research in Eastern Africa: The Experience of CIMMYT and Some National Agricultural Research Services, 1976-81 by M.P. Collinson. 1982. 67 pp. (CDIE reference PN-AAM-826) IDP 4 Animal Traction in Eastern Upper Volta: A Technical, Economic and Institutional Analysis by Vincent Barrett, Gregory Lassiter, David Wilcock, Doyle Baker, and Eric Crawford, 1982. 132 pp. (CDIE reference PN-AAM-822) IDP 5 Socio-Economic Determinants of Food Consumption and Production in Rural Sierra Leone: Application of an Agricultural Household Model with Several Commodities by John Strauss. 1983. 91 pp. (CDIE reference PN-AAM-801) IDP 6 Applications of Decision Theory and the Measurement of Attitudes Towards Risk in Farm Management Research in Industrialized and Third World Settings by Beverly Fleisher and Lindon J. Robison. 1985. 105 pp. (CDIE reference PN-AAM-136) IDP 7 Private Decisions and Public Policy: The Price Dilemma in Food Systems in Developing Countries by Peter Timmer. 1986. 58 pp. (CDIE reference PN-AAR-106) IDP 8 Rice Marketing in Senegal River Valley: Research Findings and Policy Reform Options by Michael L. Morris. 1987. 89 IDWP 15 MAN-443) IDWP 15 MAN-443 IDWP 6 Periodicals for Microcomputers: An Annotated Bibliography by Thomas Stilwell and Housing in Lima, Peruby Paul Strassmann. 1983. 70 pp. (CDIE reference PN-AAN-436) IDWP 9 Faire Face a la Crise Alimentaire de l'Afrique by Carl K. Eicher. 1983. 29 pp. (CDIE reference PN-AAN-442) IDWP 9 Software Directories for Microcomputers: An Annotated Bibliography by Thomas Ctilvelle
DUyle C. Balkel. 1922. 34 pp. (CDIE reference PN-A8A-840) IDP 2
A Stritutant Study of Constraints on Traditional Farthing Systems in Northern Nigeria by Eric W. Crawford. 1982. 136 pp. (CDIE reference PN-AAP-677) IDP 3 Farming Systems Research in Eastern Africa: The Experience of CIMMYT and Some National Agricultural Research Services, 1976-81 by M.P. Collinson. 1982. 67 pp. (CDIE reference PN-AAM-826) IDP 4 Animal Traction in Eastern Upper Volta: A Technical, Economic and Institutional Analysis by Vincent Barrett, Gregory Lassiter, David Wilcock, Doyle Baker, and Eric Crawford. 1982. 132 pp. (CDIE reference PN-AAM-826) IDP 5 Socio-Economic Determinants of Food Consumption and Production in Rural Sierra Leone: Application of an Agricultural Household Model with Several Commodities by John Strauss. 1983. 91 pp. (CDIE reference PN-AAM-031) IDP 6 Applications of Decision Theory and the Measurement of Attitudes Towards Risk in Farm Management Research in Industrialized and Third World Settings by Beverly Fleisher and Lindon J. Robison. 1985. 105 pp. (CDIE reference PN-AAP-135) IDP 7 Private Decisions and Public Policy: The Price Dilemma in Food Systems in Developing Countries by Peter Timmer. 1986. 58 pp. (CDIE reference PN-AAR-106) IDP 8 Rice Marketing in Senegal River Valley: Research Findings and Policy Reform Options by Michael L. Morris. 1987. 89 IDWP 15 Mey 10 IDWP 1 Implication of Microcomputers: An Annotated Bibliography by Thomas C. Stilwell. 1983. 14 pp. (CDIE reference PN-AAP-133) IDWP 10 Instructional Aids for Teaching How to Use the Ti-59 Programmable Calculator by Ralph E. Hepp. 1983. 133 pp. (CDIE reference PN-AAP-133) IDWP 11 Implication Aids for Teaching How to Use the Ti-59 Programmable Calculator (TI-59)
IDP 3
Research Services, 1976-81 by M.P. Collinson. 1982. 67 pp. (CDIE reference PN-AAM-826) IDP 4
IDP 4
IDP 4
Gregory Lassiter, David Wilcock, Doyle Baker, and Eric Crawford. 1982. 132 pp. (CDIE reference PN-AAM-262) IDP 5
IDP 5
IDP 5
Agricultural Household Model with Several Commodities by John Strauss. 1983. 91 pp. (CDIE reference PN-AAM-031) IDP 6
John Strauss. 1983. 91 pp. (CDIE reference PN-AAM-031) IDP 6
IDP 6
Attitudes Towards Risk in Farm Management Research in Industrialized and Third World Settings by Beverly Fleisher and Lindon J. Robison. 1985. 105 pp. (CDIE reference PN-AAU-740) IDP 7
Industrialized and Third World Settings by Beverly Fleisher and Lindon J. Robison. 1985. 105 pp. (CDIE reference PN-AAU-740) IDP 7
and Lindon J. Robison. 1985. 105 pp. (CDIE reference PN-AAU-740) IDP 7
IDP 7
Food Systems in Developing Countries by Peter Timmer. 1986. 58 pp. (CDIE reference PN-AAZ-091) IDP 8
1986. 58 pp. (CDIE reference PN-AAZ-091) IDP 8
and Policy Reform Options by Michael L. Morris. 1987. 89 IDWP 15 An Evaluation of Selected Microcomputer Statistical
IDP 9 Small Scale Industries in Developing Countries: Empirical Programs by James W. Pease and Raoul Lepage With
Evidence and Policy Implications by Carl Liedholm and Donald Mead. 1987. 141 pp. (CDIE reference PN-AAX-
734) IDWP 16 Small Enterprises in Egypt: A study of I wo Governorates by
IDP 10
Agriculture: A Micro-Level Perspective from Asia by Derek Byerlee. 1987. 57 pp. (CDIE reference PN-AAZ-093) DNAP 47 Micro-Level Perspective from Asia by Derek pp. (CDIE reference PN-AAU-093) Micro-Level Perspective from Asia by Derek pp. (CDIE reference PN-AAU-093)
IDP 11 The Economics of Smallholder Maize Production in IDVVP 17 INICIOCOMPULEI Statistical Packages for Agricultural
Zimbabwe: Implications for Food Security by David D. Research by Thomas C. Stilwell. 1984. 23 pp. (CDIE reference PN-AAZ-516)
Rohrbach. 1989. 100 pp. (CDIE reference PN-ABD-549) IDWP 18 An Annotated Directory of Citation Database, Educational,
WORKING PAPERS System Diagnostics and Other Miscellaneous Miscentry of Potential Use to Agricultural
Microcomputer Software of Potential Use to Agricultural Scientists in Developing Countries by Thomas C. Stilwell and
Case Study by Daniel Galt, Alvaro Diaz, Mario Contreras P. Jordan Smith. 1984. 34 pp. (CDIE reference PN-AAZ-
Frank Peairs, Joshua Posner, and Franklin Rosales. 1982. 10 Professor of the Control of the Con
48 pp. (CDIE reference PN-AAM-827) Amalia Pinaldi 1985 60 pp. (CDIE reference PN-AAZ-
IDWP 2 Credit Agricole et Credit Informal dans la Region Orientale de Haute-Volta: Analyse Economique, Performance
Institutionnelle et Implications en Matiere de Politique de
Developpement Agricole by Edouald K. Tapsoba. 1962. 125 Thomas C. Stilwall and P. Jordan Smith. 1985. 75 pp.
IDWR 3 Employment and Construction. Multicountry, Estimates of (CDIE reference PN-AAZ-525)
Costs and Substitutions Elasticities for Small Dwellings by Costs and Substitutions Elasticities for Small Dwellings by Second Edition by Thomas C. Stilwell, 1985, 89 pp. (CDIF)
w.P. Strassmann. 1982. 42 pp. (CDIE reference PN-AAZ-526)
AAM-455) IDWP 4 Sub-Contracting in Rural Areas of Thailand by Donald C. IDWP 22 Software Directories for Microcomputers: An Annotated Direc
Mead. 1982. 53 pp. (CDIE reference PN-AAN-192) Bibliography, Second Edition by Thomas C. Stilwell. 1985. 21 pp. (CDIE reference PN-AAZ-528)

IDWP 23	A diagnostic Perspective Assessment of the Production and	RP 4	Cereals Marketing in the Senegal River Valley by Michael L.
	Marketing System for Mangoes in the Eastern Caribbean by	DD C	Morris. 1987. 126 pp. (CDIE reference PN-AAZ-120)
	Alan Hrapsky with Michael Weber and Harold Riley. 1985. 106 pp. (CDIE reference PN-AAZ-529)	RP 5	The Food Security Equation in Southern Africa by Mandivamba Rukuni and Carl K. Eicher. 1987. 32 pp.
IDWP 24	Subcontracting Systems and Assistance Programs:		(CDIE reference PN-AAZ-121)
10111 21	Opportunities for Intervention by Donald C. Mead. 1985. 32	RP 6	Economic Analysis of Agronomic Trials for the Formulation
	pp. (CDIE reference PN-AAZ-943)	•	of Farmer Recommendations by Eric Crawford and Mulumba
IDWP 25	Small Scale Enterprise Credit Schemes: Administrative		Kamuanga. 1988. 41 pp. (CDIE reference PN-AAZ-370)
	Costs and the Role of Inventory Norms by Carl Liedholm.	RP 6F	L'Analyse Economiques des Essais Agronomiques pour la
	1985. 23 pp. (CDIE reference PN-AAU-615)		Formulation des Recommandations aux Paysans par Eric
IDWP 26	Subsector Analysis: Its Nature, Conduct and Potential		Crawford et Mulumba Kamuanga. 1987. 33 pp. (CDIE
	Contribution to Small Enterprise Development by James J.	DD 7	reference PN-AAZ-122)
	Boomgard, Stephen P. Davies, Steve Haggblade and Donald Mead. 1986. 57 pp. (CDIE reference PN-AAZ-101)	KP /	Economic Analysis of Livestock Trials by Eric Crawford. 1987. 36 pp. (CDIE reference PN-AAZ-371)
IDWP 27	The Effect of Policy and Policy Reforms on Non-Agricultural	RP 7F	L'Analyse Economique des Essais Zootechniques par Eric
15111 21	Enterprises and Employment in Developing Countries: A		Crawford. 1987. 36 pp. (CDIE reference PN-AAZ-123)
	Review of Past Experiences by Steve Haggblade, Carl	RP 8	A Field Study of Fertilizer Distribution and Use in Senegal,
	Liedholm, and Donald C. Mead. 1986. 133 pp. (CDIE		1984: Summary Report by Eric Crawford and Valerie Kelly.
	reference PN-AAV-001)		1987. 32 pp. (CDIE reference PN-AAZ-124)
IDWP 28	Rural Small Scale Enterprises in Zambia: Results of a 1985	RP 8F	Enquete sur la Distribution et l'Utilisation de l'Engrais au
	Country-Wide Survey by John T. Milimo and Yacob Fisseha.		Sénégal, 1984: Résumé Analytique par Eric Crawford et
IDWD 20	1986. 76 pp. (CDIE reference PN-AAZ-102) Fundamentals of Price Analysis in Developing Countries'	DDO	Valerie Kelly. 1988. 43 pp. (CDIE reference PN-ABC-173)
IDWP 29	Food Systems: A Training Manual to Accompany the	RP9	Improving Food Marketing Systems in Developing Countries: Experiences from Latin America by Kelly Harrison, Donald
	Microcomputer Software Program 'MSTAT' by Stephen		Henley, Harold Riley and James Shaffer. 1987. 135 pp.
	Goetz and Michael T. Weber. 1986. 148 pp. (CDIE		(CDIE reference PN-AAZ-125)
	reference PN-AAZ-103)	RP 10	Policy Relevant Research on the Food and Agricultural
IDWP 30	Rapid Reconnaissance Guidelines for Agricultural Marketing		System in Senegal by Mark Newman, Eric Crawford and
	and Food System Research in Developing Countries by		Jacques Faye. 1987. 30 pp. (CDIE reference PN-AAZ-
	John S. Holtzman. 1986. 75 pp. (CDIE reference PN-AAZ-	55.455	126)
IDWD 34	104)	RP 10F	Orientations et Programmes de Recherche Macro-
IDWP 31	Contract Farming and Its Effect on Small Farmers in Less Developed Countries by Nicholas William Minot. 1986. 86		Economiques sur le Systeme Agro-Alimentaire Sénégalais par Mark Newman, Eric Crawford et Jacques Faye. 1987.
	pp. (CDIE reference PN-AAZ-105)		37 pp. (CDIE reference PN-AAZ-127)
IDWP 32	Food Security Policy and the Competitiveness of Agriculture	RP 11	
	in the Sahel: A Summary of the "Beyond Mindelo" Seminar		1984: Final Report by Eric Crawford, Curtis Jolly, Valerie
	by Thomas S. Jayne and Nicholas Minot. 1989. 27 pp.		Kelly, Philippe Lambrecht, Makhona Mbaye, and Matar Gaye.
	(CDIE reference PN-ABF-570)		1987. 106 pp. (CDIE reference PN-AAZ-128)
IDWP 33	Small Scale Manufacturing Growth in Africa: Initial Evidence	RP 11F	Enquête sur la Distribution et l'Utilisation de l'Engrais au
	by Carl Liedholm and Joan Parket. 1989. 18 pp. (CDIE		Sénégal, 1984: Rapport Final par Eric Crawford, Curtis Jolly,
IDWD 34	reference PN-ABB-945) Food Security and Economic Growth in the Sahel: A		Valerie Kelly, Philippe Lambrecht, Makhona Mbaye, et Matar
IDWF 34	Summary of the September 1989 Cereals Workshop by	RP 12	Gaye. 1987. 106 pp. (CDIE reference pending) Private and Public Sectors in Developing Country Grain
	Victoire C. D'Agostino and John M. Staatz. 1989. 44 pp.	101 12	Markets: Organization Issues and Options in Senegal by
	(CDIE reference PN-ABD-956)		Mark D. Newman, P. Alassane Sow, and Ousseynou NDoye.
IDWP 35	User's Manual for the SADCC Cereals Trade Database		1987. 14 pp. (CDIE reference PN-AAZ-129)
	Compiled by the University of Zimbabwe and Michigan State	RP 13	Agricultural Research and Extension in Francophone West
	University by David Kingsbury. 1989. 44 pp. (CDIE		Africa: The Senegal Experience by R. James Bingen and
IDM/D 00	reference PN-ABF-378)		Jacques Faye. 1987. 23 pp. (CDIE reference PN-AAV-
IDWP 36	Managing Food Security Action Programs in Botswana by	DD 40E	929)
IDWP 37	Sisay Asefa. 1989. 36 pp. (CDIE reference PN-ABF-377) User's Guide to BENCOS Lotus 1-2-3 Templates for Benefit-	KF 13F	La Liaison Recherche-Developpement en Afrique de l'Ouest Francophone: L'Experience du Sénégal par James Bingen
15441 07	Cost Analysis by Eric Crawford and A. Allan Schmid. 1990.		et Jacques Faye. 1987. 32 pp. (CDIE reference PN-AAZ-
	23 pp. (CDIE reference PN-ABF-530)		130)
IDWP 38	Research Methods in the MSU Food Security in Africa	RP 14	Grain Marketing in Senegal's Peanut Basin: 1984/85
	Project: Conceptualizing and Implementing Policy Relevant		Situation and Issues by Mark D. Newman. 1987. 16 pp.
	Studies by James F. Tefft with Michael T. Weber and John		(CDIE reference PN-AAZ-131)
	M. Staatz. 1990. 128 pp. (CDIE reference pending)	RP 15	Tradeoffs between Domestic and Imported Cereals in
			Senegal: A Marketing Systems Perspective by Mark D.
REPRINT PAP	FRS		Newman, Ousseynou NDoye, and P. Alassane Sow. 1987. 41 pp. (CDIE reference PN-AAZ-372)
Al		RP 15F	Céréales Locales et Céréales Importées au Sénégal: La
DD 1	The Private Sector Connection to Development by Carl		Politique Alimentaire a Partier Systemes de
NF 1	The Private Sector Connection to Development by Carl Liedholm. 1986. 19 pp. (CDIE reference PN-AAW-353)		Commercialisation par Mark D. Newman, Ousseynou NDoye,
RP 2	Influencing the Design of Marketing Systems to Promote		et P. Alassane Sow. 1987. 48 pp. (CDIE reference PN-
	Development in Third World Countries by James D. Shaffer		ABC-326)
	with Michael Weber, Harold Riley and John Staatz. 1987. 21	RP 16	
	pp. (CDIE reference PN-AAV-230)		by R. James Bingen. 1987. 88 pp. (CDIE reference PN-
RP3	Famine Prevention in Africa: The Long View by Carl K.	RP 16F	AAZ-373) Orientation de la Recherche sur les Systemes de
	Eicher. 1987. 18 pp. (CDIE reference PN-AAZ-119)		Productions au Sénégal par R. James Bingen. 1987. 94 pp.
			(CDIE reference PN-AAZ-374)
			·

RP 17	A Contribution to Agronomic Knowledge of the Lower Casamance (Bibliographical Synthesis) by J.L. Posner.	RP 26F	La Réglementation et l'Organisation des Marchés Céréaliers au Sénégal: Situation des Campagnes des
RP 17F	1988. 47 pp. (CDIE reference PN-AAZ-375) Contribution a la Connaissance Agronomique de la Basse Casamance (Synthese Biblographique) par J.L. Posner.		Commercialisation 1983/84 et 1984/85 par P. Alassane Sow et Mark D. Newman. 1988. 35 pp. (CDIE reference PN-ABC-166)
RP 18	1988. 47 pp. (CDIE reference PN-ABC-167) Acquisition and Use of Agricultural Inputs in the Context of	RP 27	Farm Level Cereal Situation in Lower Casamance: Results of a Field Study by C.M. Jolly, M. Kamuanga, S. Sall, and
	Senegal's New Agricultural Policy: The Implications of Farmers' Attitudes and Input Purchasing Behavior for the Design of Agricultural Policy and Research Programs by	RP 27F	J.L. Posner. 1988. 35 pp. (CDIE reference PN-ABC-157) Situation Céréaliere en Milieu Paysan en Basse Casamance: Résultats d'une Enquête de Terrain par C.M. Jolly, M.
RP 18F	Valerie Auserehl Kelly. 1988. 30 pp. (CDIE reference PN-AAZ-376) Acquisition et Utilisation d'Intrants Agricoles dans le Context	RP 28F	Kamuanga, S. Sall, et J.L. Posner. 1988. 41 pp. (CDIE reference PN-ABC-158) Budgets de Culture au Sénégal par Frédéric Martin. 1988. 54
-	de la Nouvelle Politique Agricole du Sénégal: Implications des Attitudes et du Comportement d'Achat d'Intrants des Exploitants pour l'Elaboration d'une Politique Agricole et de		pp. (CDIE reference PN-ABC-168) Annexe 1 Budgets de Culture et Analyse des Marges dans le Bassin Arachidier. 1988. 134 pp. (CDIE reference PN-
	Programmes de Recherches par Valerie Auserehl Kelly. 1988. 35 pp. (CDIE reference PN-AAZ-377)		ABC-169) Annexe 2 Budgets de Culture et Analyse des Marges au
RP 19	Farmers' Demand for Fertilizer in the Context of Senegal's New Agricultural Policy: A Study of Factors Influencing Farmers' Fertilizer Purchasing Decisions by Valerie Auserehl		Sénégal Oriental et en Casamance. 1988. 204 pp. (CDIE reference PN-ABC-170) Annexe 3 Budgets de Culture et Analyse des Marges dans
RP 19F	Kelly. 1988. 47 pp. (CDIE reference PN-AAZ-378) Demande d'Engrais de la Part des Exploitants dans les Contexte de la Nouvelle Politique Agricole au Sénégal: Une	RP 29	la Vallée du Fleuve Sénégal. 1988. 214 pp. (CDIE reference PN-ABC-171) Agricultural Development and Policy in Senegal: Annotated
	Etude des Facteurs Influencant les Decisions d'Achat d'Engrais Prises par les Exploitants par Valerie Auserehl Kelly. 1988. 58 pp. (CDIE reference PN-AAZ-379)		Bibliography of Recent Studies, 1983-89 by Eric Crawford, R. James Bingen, and Malcolm Versel. 1990. 254 pp. (CDIE reference PN-ABE-271)
RP 20	Production Systems in the Lower Casamance and Farmer Strategies in Response to Rainfall Deficits by J.L. Posner, M.	RP 30	Lowland Cropping Systems in the Lower Casamance of Senegal: Results of Four Years of Agronomic Research
RP 20F	Kamuanga, and S. Sall. 1988. 33 pp. (CDIE reference PN-ABC-162) Les Systemes de Production en Basse Casamance et les	RP 31	(1982-1985) by Joshua Posner, Mulumba Kamuanga, and Mamadou Lo. 1990. 130 pp. (CDIE reference pending) Farming Systems Research in Southern Senegal: The
	Stratégies Paysannes Face du Deficit Pluviométrique par J.L. Posner, M. Kamuanga, et S. Sall. 1988. 33 pp. (CDIE reference PN-ABC-163)		<i>Djibelor Experience (1982-1986)</i> by Mulumba Kamuanga and Joshua L. Posner. 1992. 57 pp. (CDIE reference pending)
RP 21	Informing Food Security Decisions in Africa: Empirical Analysis and Policy Dialogue by Michael T. Weber, John M. Staatz, John S. Holtzman, Eric W. Crawford, and Richard H. Bernsten. 1989. 11 pp. (CDIE reference PN-ABE-627)		
RP 21F	Comment Informer les Decisions Traitant de la Sécurité Alimentaire en Afrique: Analyses Empiriques et Dialogue Politique par Michael T. Weber, John M. Staatz, John S.		
RP 22	Holtzman, Eric W. Crawford, et Richard H. Bernsten. 1989. 13 pp. (CDIE reference PN-ABD-104) The Creation and Establishment of Production Systems		
	Research in a National Agricultural Research Institute: The Senegal Experience by Jacques Faye, James Bingen, and Etienne Landais. 1988. 25 pp. (CDIE reference PN-ABC-		
RP 23	161) Foreign Trade of Agricultural Products and Inputs in Senegal		
	from 1975 to 1984 by Frederic Martin and Alioune Dieng. 1988. 45 pp. (CDIE reference PN-ABC-164)		
RP 23F	Sénégal de 1975 a 1984 par Frederic Martin et Alioune Dieng. 1990. 45 pp. (CDIE reference PN-ABF-529)		
RP 24	Organization and Performance of Cereal Markets: The Case of Senegal by Mark D. Newman, P. Alassane Sow, and Ousseynou NDoye. 1988. 24 pp. (CDIE reference PN-		
RP 24F	Organisation et Performances des Marchés Céréaliers: Le Cas du Sénégal par Mark D. Newman, P. Alassane Sow, and Ousseynou NDoye. 1988. 24 pp. (CDIE reference PN-		
RP 25F	du Fleuve Sénégal: Méthodologie par Michael Morris. 1988.		
RP 26	48 pp. (CDIE reference PN-ABC-172) The Regulation and Organization of Cereal Markets in Senegal: Report on the Marketing Campaigns of 1983/84 and 1984/85 by P. Alassane Sow and Mark D. Newman.		
	1988. 29 pp. (CDIE reference PN-ABC-165)		